Washington, DC 20375-5320



NRL/FR/6114--06-10,135

Mineralization of 2,4,6-Trinitrotoluene (TNT) in Coastal Waters and Sediments

S.W. WALKER C.L. OSBURN T.J. BOYD L.J. HAMDAN R.B. COFFIN M.T. MONTGOMERY

Chemical Dynamics and Diagnostics Branch Chemistry Division

J.P. Smith

Environmental, Earth, and Ocean Sciences (EEOS) Department University of Massachusetts Boston, MA 02125

Q.X. Li C. Hennessee

Department of Molecular Biosciences and Bioengineering University of Hawaii Honolulu, HI 96822

F. Monteil J. Hawari

National Research Council Canada - Biotechnology Research Institute (NRC-BRI) Montreal, Québec, Canada

August 21, 2006

Approved for public release, distribution is unlimited.

REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE

Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188

| Public reporting burden for maintaining the data neede | this collection of information is ed, and completing and review | s estimated to average 1 ho ing this collection of informa- | our per response, including the ation. Send comments regard | ne time for reviewing i ding this burden estim | nstructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and late or any other aspect of this collection of information, including gians and Bapacter (0740-0189), 1215, laffsrcan David, Highway, |
|--|---|--|---|--|--|
| Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 2 | 2202-4302. Respondents sho solay a currently valid OMB co | uld be aware that notwithsta | anding any other provision of | f law, no person shall | be subject to any penalty for failing to comply with a collection of DRRESS |
| 1. REPORT DATE (21-08-2006 | DD-MM-YYYY) | 2. REPORT TYPE Formal | | | 3. DATES COVERED (From - To) |
| 4. TITLE AND SUB | TITLE | 1 | | | 5a. CONTRACT NUMBER |
| Mineralization of | 2,4,6-Trinitrotoluene | (TNT) in Coastal W | aters and Sediments | - | 5b. GRANT NUMBER 61-8856-05 |
| | | | | - | 5c. PROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER |
| 6. AUTHOR(S) | Oshum T.I. Doud I | I Hamdon D.D.C. | offen ID Smith * O | V L: ** C | 5d. PROJECT NUMBER |
| S. w. walker, C.L. Osburn, I.J. Boyd, L.J. Hamdan, R.B. C Hennessee,** F. Monteil,*** J. Hawari,*** and M. Montg | | | omery | A. LI,*** C. | 5e. TASK NUMBER |
| | | | | - | 5f. WORK UNIT NUMBER |
| 7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES) | | | | 8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER | |
| Naval Research L Washington, DC | aboratory 20375-5320 | | | | NRL/FR/611406-10,135 |
| 9. SPONSORING / | MONITORING AGENC | CY NAME(S) AND AI | DDRESS(ES) | | 10. SPONSOR / MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S) |
| Strategic Environ | mental Research | Office of Na | val Research | | SERDP and ONR |
| and Development 901 North Stuart Arlington, VA 22 | Program (SERDP) Street, Suite 303 203 | One Liberty 875 North R Arlington, V | Center Landolph Street, Suite /A 22203 | 11. SPONSOR / MONITOR'S REPORT NUMBER(S) | |
| 12. DISTRIBUTION | / AVAILABILITY STAT | EMENT | | | |
| Approved for put | olic release; distributio | n is unlimited. | | | |
| 13. SUPPLEMENTA | RY NOTES | | | | |
| * Environmental, E ** Department of I *** National Resea | arth, and Ocean Sciences Molecular Biosciences an rch Council Canada - Bio | s Department, Universi nd Bioengineering, Uni otechnology Research | ty of Massachusetts, Bo versity of Hawaii, Hon Institute, Montreal, Qué | oston, MA 02125 olulu, HI 96822 ébec, Canada | |
| 14. ABSTRACT | | | | | |
| Mineralization ra during 12 researc to uptake and inc were similar, or a historical UXO fi faster (16 ug L-1 L-1 d-1), suggest | tes of 14C-TNT, -DN h cruises over the past orporation rates of TN un order of magnitude eld, we found that whi d-1, filtered water in 1 ing either that the pres | T, and -DAT were m 4 years in the San F VT, DNT, and DAT if faster, than those for le bacterial mineralit ight) and the combin sence of active phyto | easured in surface se rancisco Bay, Chesap into the natural micro or organic hydrocarbo zation was rapid (>1 nation of light and ur oplankton is importan | ediments, with d peake Bay, and F obial assemblage ons measured at ug L-1 d-1, unfil nfiltered water w at or photodegrae | epth in sediment cores, and in the water column Hawaii. Mineralization rates were also compared e. In general, the bacterial mineralizations rates the same time. Using seawater sampled from a ltered water in dark), photodegradation was even vas greater than the sum of the two rates (103 ug dation enhances bacterial mineralization. |
| 15. SUBJECT TERI | MS | | | | |
| Biodegradation | TNT Sedimen | t Coastal | waters Bacterial | production | |
| 16. SECURITY CLA | SSIFICATION OF: | | 17. LIMITATION OF ABSTRACT | 18. NUMBER OF PAGES | R 19a. NAME OF RESPONSIBLE PERSON Michael T. Montgomery |
| a. REPORT | b. ABSTRACT | c. THIS PAGE | Unlimited | 42 | 19b. TELEPHONE NUMBER (include area |
| Unclassified | Unclassified | Unclassified | | | 202-404-6419 |
| | | | | | Standard Form 298 (Rev. 8-98) |

CONTENTS

| INTRODUCTION | 1 |
|--|----|
| Abiotic – Chemical | 1 |
| Abiotic – Photolysis | 2 |
| Biotic – Primary Producers | 4 |
| Biotic – Secondary Producers | 5 |
| | |
| MATERIAL AND METHODS | 8 |
| Sampling | 8 |
| Mineralization | 8 |
| Heterotrophic Bacterial Production1 | 1 |
| Microalgal Production | 2 |
| Contaminant Concentration | 2 |
| DGGE of Bacterial Assemblage1 | 2 |
| RESULTS AND DISCUSSION | 3 |
| Site Surveys | 3 |
| Depth Profiles | 4 |
| Incorporation and Growth Efficiency | 9 |
| Light vs Dark | 21 |
| Effect of Underwater Demolition Detonation | 22 |
| ACKNOWLEDGMENTS | 26 |
| REFERENCES | 26 |

MINERALIZATION OF 2,4,6-TRINITROTOLUENE (TNT) IN COASTAL WATERS AND SEDIMENTS

INTRODUCTION

The fate and transformation of the 2,4,6-Trinitrotoluene (TNT) has been studied extensively in terrestrial and freshwater systems (Spain et al. 2000, Esteve-Nunez et al. 2001); however, similar investigations in the marine environment have been limited to date (Darrach et al. 1998, Lotofu et al. 2001). These systems are particularly important given historical and current ordnance disposal and training activities that may liberate energetic compounds through detonation or slow release from unexploded ordnance (UXO). Though these compounds persist in soil, freshwater sediments, and groundwater (Spain et al. 2000), preliminary investigations into their fate in marine systems have demonstrated a rapid biological and photochemical degradation. The conflict in these latter findings relative to those of other researchers may directly relate to the ecosystem studied. Heterotrophic bacteria in terrestrial and groundwater environments are widely known to be phosphorus-limited, whereas the growth of marine microbiota is nitrogen-limited (Vitousek and Howarth 1991, Carpenter and Capone 1983). Although TNT is not commonly found in nature, it can supply a valuable, growth-limiting nutrient to estuarine and marine ecosystems. This may be due to the denitration step in TNT transformation that liberates either NO_3^- or NH_4^+ depending on oxygen availability (Spain et al. 2000). Additionally, genetic evidence supports the degradation of these compounds by bacteria that metabolize other types of naturally occurring organic matter (polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), lignin; Suen et al. 1996). If proven to the extent that these findings are accepted by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), they have dramatic implications for lowering Navy UXO recovery and compliance costs and ecological damage liability. Currently, there are no acceptable methods for cleanup of energetics in estuarine sediments, as even dredge and haul practices are complicated by the presence of UXO buried within the sediment. Land farming and composting are the most commonly reported strategies for soil cleanup, while for groundwater cleanup, slurry bioreactors (Steffan and Drew 1995), binding to organics (Fant et al. 2001), and reduction by Zero Valent Iron (ZVI) and related compounds have been proposed or attempted at the pilot scale (for reviews, see Peres and Agathos 2000, Rodgers and Bunce 2001).

Abiotic – Chemical

Once released, either through detonation, casing breakage, or by slow leaks from UXO, TNT may sorb onto particulates, partition to dissolved organic matter (DOM), or remain dissolved in aqueous media. TNT has nitro groups (NO₂⁻) on its ring structure that are polarizing and form hydrogen bonds with water. This characteristic increases the affinity of the TNT for aqueous solutions and charged surfaces (Haderlein et al. 2000, van Beelen and Burris 1995, Lotufo et al. 2001). In addition, TNT has an aromatic ring bound to the nitro groups which leads to substantially greater water solubility than other nitrogenous energetic compounds (NECs; e.g., RDX, HMX) (Lynch et al. 2001). Adsorption of nitroaromatics (Haderlein and Schwarzenbach 1993, Haderlein et al. 1996, Weissmahr et al. 1997, Daun et al. 1998, Weissmahr et al. 1999) and nitramines (Leggett 1985, Sheremata et al. 2001, Brannon et al. 2002, Monteil-Rivera et al. 2003) to clays, specifically phyllosilicates, was determined to dominate sorptive processes in aqueous suspensions and groundwater. With smectite clays, the binding of the nitro groups of TNT essentially replace the calcium in the clay matrix, thus integrating the energetic (Li et al.

Manuscript approved March 2, 2006.

2004). Under anoxic conditions in water, the nitro groups of TNT can be reduced to amines (Barrows et al. 1996) which also affects its reactivity (Achtnich et al. 2000). The presence of reduced colloidal or particulate iron (ZVI) can also reduce these nitro groups and enhance both the reactivity and mineralization of TNT in aqueous environments (Agrawal and Tratnyek 1996, Devlin et al. 1998, Brannon et al. 2002) though transformation rates based on laboratory experiments may overestimate the expected rates in the field (Bandstra et al. 2005). In addition to ZVI, zinc was also found to reduce TNT and longer term reactivity was enhanced by the presence of corrosion promoters like chloride (Hernandez et al. 2004).

TNT has a low octanol-water partition coefficient (Kow), indicating a limited affinity for organic matter relative to other organic contaminants which have a higher Kow and commensurate higher affinity for organic matter (e.g., PAHs, PCBs (Karickhoff 1984, Schwarzenbach et al 1993)). Significant differences in TNT sorption behavior were observed between low (0.02%) and high (8%) organic matter soils (Sheremata et al. 1999). Absorption into natural organic matter (NOM) has been identified as a significant process for organic contaminants in environments where NOM is greater than >0.2% (Schwarzenbach et al. 1993), which would be expected in estuarine systems. Many of these terrestrial and groundwater studies identify the association of TNT and particulate organic matter (POM) as an irreversible binding (Selim et al. 1995, Comfort et al. 1995, Pennington et al. 1995, Achtnich et al. 1999, Pennington et al. 1990) but in the presence of live bacterial assemblages, it would be difficult to differentiate radiolabel incorporated into bacterial macromolecules from covalent binding to POM. The presence of colloidal and dissolved organic matter (DOM), may also impact the fate of TNT in the marine water column and sedimentary porewater, as indicated in previous investigations on the enhanced water solubility of several organic pollutants by dissolved humic and fulvic acids (Chiou et al. 1986). Dissolved humic acids decreased the aqueous concentration of TNT and its metabolites in adsorption experiments under anaerobic conditions (Daun et al. 1998); however, an investigation using topsoilderived DOM produced conflicting results, with no changes in the apparent nitroaromatic solubility (Sheremata et al. 1999). Using soil composting material, Thorn and coworkers (Thorn and Kennedy 2002, Thorn et al. 2002) found that TNT was reduced to nitramines and then covalently bound to humins in soil and this binding was increased by the presence of peroxidases. The majority of these previous investigations have focused predominantly on soil and groundwater environments that have limited available organic material (dissolved and particulate) (Haderlein et al. 1996, Weissmahr et al. 1999). Estuarine sediments have significant differences in organic geochemistries (Hedges and Oades 1997), which may limit the extrapolation of TNT behavior from terrestrial systems to marine systems.

Abiotic -- Photolysis

Photochemical degradation (i.e., photolysis or photooxidation) of TNT in aqueous solutions has been investigated as a treatment strategy for contaminated soils, slurries, and waters—particularly in conjunction with catalysts, such as TiO₂ (Schmelling et al. 1996, Son et al. 2004), or with additions of peroxide and ozone (Rodgers and Bunce 2001), borohydride (Larson et al. 1996), H₂O₂ (Ho 1986), and Fenton's reagent (H₂O₂ and Fe²⁺). ZVI has also been used to enhance contaminant degradation, which results in the reduction of the contaminant, generating a suite of reaction products (Oh et al. 2003). Collectively known as advanced oxidation processes (AOPs), these techniques employ reactive oxidizing species such as hydroxyl radical (OH·) and superoxide to facilitate the opening of aromatic rings and the ultimate mineralization of organic pollutants to CO₂ and H₂O (Rodgers and Bunce 2001). Because both OH· and superoxide ion are very effective oxidants for organic compounds, they hold much promise for *in situ* chemical oxidations of organic pollutants.

As sunlight (or artificial UV light) decomposes TNT, it is converted into a variety of aromatic photolysis products including the nitroamines and azoxydimers found in biodegradation (Andrews and Osmon 1977). Direct photolysis of ¹⁴C-labelled TNT by high energy UV for a period of six days was

reported to partially cleave the ring and degrade 17% of labeled TNT to ¹⁴CO₂ (Andrews and Osmon 1975). Under natural light conditions, TNT half lives are reportedly as short as 10 min for sunlit Holston River water, 20 min for Searsville Pond water, 90 min for Waconda Bay water to 11-22 hours for distilled water (Spanggord et al. 1983, Mabey et al. 1983, Talmage et al. 1999). There are few reports of TNT degradation in seawater though Hoffsommer and Rosen (1973) found it to be stable for 108 days. Nitroaromatics (TNT, DNT) absorb electromagnetic radiation in the ultraviolet (UV) range of 200 nm and 400 nm (Bartolo et al. 1979). The absorption spectra are exponential, thus the absorption in the environmentally-relevant UV (290 to 400 nm) is much less than at wavelengths <270 nm (Meenakshisundaram et al. 1999). This relationship means that sunlight energy is often too weak to cause much direct photolysis deep within an estuarine water column, but research has shown that the presence of oxidizing agents and catalysts may facilitate complete degradation of TNT with sunlight. These agents and catalysts may already be present in the water column under certain environmental conditions.

Laboratory bench top studies and batch reactor applications in the late 1970's confirmed that UV radiation (high energy at 254 nm) and H_2O_2 photochemically degraded TNT, RDX, HMX, 2,4 DNT, 2,6 DNT, and Explosive D (ammonium picrate) when in solution (Andrews 1980, Andrews and Osmon 1977). DiGnazio et al. (1998) hypothesized photodegradation as a partial explanation for nitrate generated from explosives stored in lagoons at the Ammunition Burning Ground at the Crane Naval Surface Warfare Center. This suggests that NEC may naturally degrade in sunlight, even though absorption is relatively weak. The oxidation of an organic pollutant with some combination of UV, H_2O_2 , Fenton's reagent, or catalyst generates various degradation products which may or may not be amenable to further photochemical degradation. Recently, Liou et al. (2004) has determined that TNT degradation follows first order kinetics and has deduced the steps of degradation for the photo-Fenton process, though these experiments used distilled water. Characterization of the reaction products via each oxidation pathway in natural estuarine waters is critical to ensure that a mitigation strategy does not produce a more persistent compound of greater toxicity (i.e., azo, azoxy and nitroso compounds), as enhanced toxicity in bioassays has been observed during the photodegradation of TNT (Davenport et al. 1994).

On the laboratory scale, Ho (1986) used a UV/H₂O₂ reaction system to remediate 2,4-DNT and delineated the reaction pathways from the pollutant to low molecular weight carboxylic acids to CO₂. In the field, Fenton's reagent (Fe²⁺/H₂O₂) has been used in recent years to remove or transform a variety of pollutants, including TNT, found in groundwater or wastewater treatment streams (Zoh and Stenstrom 2002, Oh et al. 2003). Li et al. (1999) found that Fenton's reagent was more effective at pH 6 than pH 3 due to the precipitation of Fe³⁺ at pH >5. Because marine ecosystems have a pH near 8, Fenton chemistry may mediate some component of TNT degradation through active photochemical redox cycling of iron (Miller et al. 1995), an important component of which is H₂O₂ generation.

The efficacy of photochemical degradation and the associated mechanistic pathways, such as those described above, is fundamentally related to the aquatic system in which the degradation is taking place. Freshwater ecosystems at mid-latitudes, such as surface water disposal lagoons (e.g., NSWC Crane, IN), are likely poor environments for substantial degradation of NEC by photochemical degradation. These aquatic ecosystems often have high concentrations of CDOM, effectively limiting the photic zone where photochemical reactions may occur (less than 1 cm to several meters). Atmospheric conditions (clouds, chemistry) and seasonal variations in insolation, the ground level solar radiation reaching surface waters, may also limit the photon efficiency for photolysis. At mid-latitudes, this means that strong seasonal variation in the efficiency of photochemical reactions is expected. In contrast, marine ecosystems at subtropical latitudes (Hawaii, Puerto Rico, and the Bahamas) have very low amounts of particles and CDOM, thus the photic zone may extend much deeper and insolation is much greater than freshwater ecosystems. For example, we have measured very low sunlight attenuation off the coast of Oahu, HI, such that the effective photic zone depth may extend to depths of 40 m (the limit of detection of our radiometer) and perhaps greater depths where there may be substantial photochemical degradation. The

photochemical degradation of TNT produces biologically-important inorganic N (nitrate, ammonium ion) from the denitration of nitro groups on TNT (and its derivatives) and the deamination of amino groups of RDX and HMX. Thus photochemistry may be an important process for fueling increased production in aquatic ecosystems and therefore enhanced TNT degradation.

Biotic – Primary Producers

Microalgae

Although the transformation of TNT via bacterial and photolytic mediation has been examined, little information is available on the transformation of TNT by marine microalgae. This aspect of cycling and fate of TNT is particularly relevant because nitrogen (N), a key component of energetic compounds, frequently controls the rate of primary production in marine, estuarine and some freshwater ecosystems (Sharp 1991). Most work on TNT and microalgae has described the toxic effects of the energetic (Smock et al. 1976, Won et al. 1976, Burton et al. 1994, Tandros et al. 2000) though many of these effects can be reversed if the algae are maintained in flow through systems (Pavlostathis and Jackson 2002). There are some reports on uptake and metabolism of TNT by microalgae (Mondecar et al. 1994, Pavlostathis and Jackson 1999, 2002) as a potential environmental cleanup strategy.

Phytoplankton (planktonic eukaryotic microalgae and cyanobacteria) are the main contributor to aquatic primary production (Paerl et al. 2003, Sellner 1997). In addition to their central roles in carbon and nutrient cycling in aquatic ecosystems, they are also highly sensitive to changes in nutrients and toxic compounds. These microorganisms are thus uniquely suited as potential indicators of regional contamination by TNT, and also mediators for remediation. Initial work has focused on cyanobacteria, specifically *Anabaena* sp., in marine environments found in association with TNT manufacturing effluent (Pavlostathis et al. 1998). Cyanobacteria and other microalgae are known to transform aromatic contaminants such as naphthalene, phenanthrene and other hydrocarbons (Ellis 1977, Cerniglia and Gibson 1979, Cerniglia et al. 1980a,b, Narro et al. 1992, Kuritz and Wolk 1995, Thies et al. 1996, Kuritz et al. 1997, Kirso and Irha 1998).

Under N limited conditions typical of marine systems, a mixed culture of *Anabaena* and heterotrophic bacteria efficiently removed (96% at 58 mg L⁻¹ starting concn., ca. 50 mg TNT L⁻¹ d⁻¹) and metabolized N from TNT (Pavlostathis and Jackson 2002). This was compared to rates about 30-fold lower for the bacteria only culture media. The difference between the two treatments was attributed to uptake by *Anabaena* alone (Pavlostathis and Jackson 2002) though it should be noted that if there was enhanced removal by bacteria in the presence of *Anabaena*, this removal would have been attributed to *Anabaena* by these researchers. These works highlight the possible use of marine cyanobacteria for TNT remediation. Despite this potential, many cyanobacterial species (e.g., *Anabaena*) are considered nuisance species because they can be toxic and can fix atmospheric N, thus contributing to N overenrichment (i.e., eutrophication) (Paerl 1988, Paerl et al. 2001, 2003, Sellner 1997). They are often a poor food source for higher organisms, and can accumulate and form unsightly blooms. These factors illustrate the importance of determining the underlying mechanisms of energetic degradation by marine microorganisms.

Macrophytes

TNT metabolism and degradation by macrophytes has involved the study of whole plants, plant cell culture, and transgenic plants. The types of whole plants that have been studied include the bush bean (Harvey et al. 1990), hybrid poplar (Thompson et al. 1998), soybean (Adamia et al. 2006), switchgrass (Peterson et al. 1998), ryegrass (Sung et al. 2004), yellow nutsedge (Palazzo and Leggett 1986) and a variety of wetland species (Best et al. 1999 a, b, Bhadra et al. 1999 a, b, Burken et al. 2000, Gorge 1994, Hughes et al. 1997, Nepovim et al. 2005, Paquin et al. 2004, Pavlostathis et al. 1998, Vanderford et al. 1997). Some investigators have used cell cultures (Hughes et al. 1997, Vanek et al. 2002, Vila et al. 2005) or plant extracts (Medina et al. 2004) to differentiate between degradation by the plant cells vs the associated microflora. Commensal bacteria are known to enhance TNT metabolism (Ramos et al. 2005, Van Aken et al. 2004) especially those bacteria found in the rhizosphere (Siciliano et al. 2000). There have also been some recent efforts to model the effect of TNT phytoremediation on natural ecosystems (Schoenmuth and Pestemer 2004, Ouyang et al. 2005).

Plants can sequester TNT as a detoxification mechanism (Bhadra et al. 1999, Sens et al. 1999, Wayment et al. 1999), or incorporate, fully metabolize, or partially degrade it to reduced metabolites (e.g., monoamino derivatives 2- and 4-ADNT) (Best et al. 2005). TNT degradation products found in the plant tend to be localized primarily on membranes of the endoplasmic reticulum, mitochondria, and plastids (Adamia et al. 2006). The degradation products were mainly low molecular weight organics in the roots and higher molecular weight biopolymers in the stems and leaves (Adamia et al. 2006). TNT transformation occurs primarily as two types of enzymes systems are used, oxidative and nitroreductive, with the oxidative enzymes most associated with detoxification and the nitroreductive with metabolism (Best et al. 2005) with many of the degradation products being similar to those found in microbial degradation (Bhadra et al. 1999). The oxidative enzyme system (peroxidase, phenoloxidase) is generally constitutively produced and confers resistance to the presence of the TNT in soil and water (Adamia et al. 2006, Best et al. 2005). The nitroreductive enzymes are inducible in the presence of TNT and the levels are correlated to the TNT removal rate by the plant. It is this latter class of enzymes that appears to be most important in determining the suitability of a plant species for TNT phytoremediation (Adamia et al. 2006).

In addition to the correlations between enzymatic activity and TNT transformation in wild-type plant species, there have been several reports of the creation of transgenic plants that have incorporated and expressed a bacterial nitroreductase gene (French et al. 1995, French et al. 1998, French et al. 1999, Hannink et al. 2001, Kurumata et al. 2005). Kurumata et al. (2005) found that transgenic seedlings increased their uptake of TNT by seven to eight times when exposed to TNT in solution. Tobacco plants were developed that harbored the bacterial *onr* gene that encodes the pentaerythritol tetranitrate reductase from *Enterobacter cloacae* (French et al. 1995, French et al. 1998, French et al. 1999). These plants showed detectable expression of the reductase enzyme in leaf and root tissue and were able to germinate and grow in the presence of TNT concentrations that were inhibitory to the wild-type plants.

Biotic – Secondary Producers

The rate of TNT attenuation below the photic zone in coastal waters and sediments may be largely controlled by metabolism by heterotrophic bacteria. Virtually all of the published information on bacterial NEC metabolism is derived from work in terrestrial soil (e.g., Drzyzga et al. 1999, Steffan and Drew 1995), groundwater (e.g., Krumholz et al. 1997) and freshwater systems (e.g., Spain et al. 2000). These studies provide a substantial amount of information on enzymatic pathways (see review by Peres and Aganthos 2000), production of intermediates or dead end products (Drzyzga et al. 1998), strain identification (Lessner et al. 2002, Smets and Mueller 2001) and some genetic information on the natural assemblage (Fuller and Manning 1998). Typically, some combination of aerobic and anaerobic

metabolism is required for near complete transformation of TNT carbon and this often starts with denitration prior to ring cleavage (Fiorella and Spain 1997). There are also many reports of incomplete metabolism resulting in the production of intermediates or dead end by-products that may be reactive with natural organic matter (e.g., humics) (Knicker et al. 1999, Bruns-Nagel et al. 2000, Thorn et al. 2002). These partial degradation products may be more toxic than the parent compound which may result in increased risk to the ecosystem. There are also some early reports on the use of recombinant bacteria for TNT metabolism (Duque et al. 1993). To date, most work on NEC transformation by bacteria has been performed with environmental isolates rather than natural assemblages.

TNT biodegradation has been reported for a wide variety of bacterial isolates cultured from freshwater or terrestrial environments including *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Alvarez et al. 1995, Kalafut et al. 1998, Oh et al. 2003), *P. fluorescens* (Pak et al. 2000), *P. pseudoalcaligenes* (Fiorella and Spain 1997), *Pseudomonas* sp. (Haïdour and Ramos 1996), anaerobic *Desulfovibrio* sp. and anaerobic *Serratia* sp. (Drzyga et al. 1998), *Bacillus* sp. and *Staphylococcus* sp. (Kalafut et al. 1998), actinomycetes (Pasti-Grigsby et al. 1996), *Enterobacter cloacae* (French et al. 1998), *Klebsiella* sp. (Kim et al. 2002), *Clostridium thermoaceticum* (Huang et al. 2000), and *C. acetobutylicum* (Watrous et al. 2003). There are fewer reports of 2,4-DNT biodegradation by cultured *Arthrobacter* sp. (Tope et al. 1999) *Alcaligenes* (Smets and Mueller 2001), and *Burkholderia cepacia* (Johnson et al. 2002), and ADNT by *P. aeruginosa* (Alvarez et al. 1995).

A common finding is that the $-NO_2$ groups of the TNT are reduced to $-NH_2$ or denitrated (*Bacillus* sp., Kalafut et al. 1998) with extracellular release of the various aminotoluene partial degradation products. TNT metabolism in monoculture can be limited by nitroreductase inactivation by these partial degradation products (Riefler and Smets 2002) or by more generally described cytotoxicity (Fuller and Manning 1997). Reduction and cleavage of the aromatic ring of TNT has not been characteristic of most bacterial isolates studied to date (Zaripov et al. 2004). Enzymes involved in TNT metabolism include carbon monoxide dehydrogenase (*C. thermoaceticum*, Huang et al. 2000), NAD(P)H-dependent nitroreductase I (*Klebsiella* sp., Kim and Song 2005), NAD(P)H-dependent flavoprotein oxidoreductase (*P. fluorescens*, Pak et al. 2000), Fe-only hydrogenase (*C. acetobutylicum*, Watrous et al. 2003) and the flavin-dependent oxidoreductases related to the old yellow enzyme of yeast (Williams et al. 2004). These latter oxidoreductases did yield metabolic products that are indicative of reduction of the aromatic ring (Williams et al. 2004). Atypically, *Rhodococcus erythropolis* and a 4-nitrotoluene-utilizing *Mycobacterium* sp. possess reductive enzyme systems which catalyze ring hydrogenation without evidence of reductive TNT denitration (Vorbeck et al. 1998).

Heterotrophic bacteria can use TNT as a sole nitrogen source (*E. cloacae*, French et al. 1998), sole carbon source via nitrobenzene (*P. pseudoalcaligenes*, Fiorella and Spain 1997), with both the carbon and nitrogen incorporated into macromolecules (*Pseudomonas* sp., Esteve-Nunez et al. 2000). Carbon incorporation can be relatively high (42%; Drzyzga et al. 1998) though the amount mineralized is typically very low (6% or less, *Klebsiella* sp.; Kim et al. 2002). Toluene can be produced from the denitration of TNT (Boopathy and Kulpa 1992) and the relatively simple genetic manipulation of transferring the *P. putida* TOL plasmid pWWO-Km to *Pseudomonas* sp. allowed the transconjugant to grow on TNT as a sole source of carbon and nitrogen (Duque et al. 1993). Horizontal gene transfer efficiency of the TOL plasmid is very high, especially in biofilms, and particularly among non-culturable strains (Sorensen et al. 2005). Such plasmids are often unstable and lost upon exposure to the high nutrient culture conditions typically involved in isolating strains from the natural environment (Sorensen et al. 2005).

2,4-DNT can also be used as a sole carbon, nitrogen and energy source (*B. cepacia*, Johnson et al. 2002). The 2,4-DNT dioxygenase of *B. cepacia*, and the naphthalene dioxygenase enzyme system of *Pseudomonas* share a common ancestor (Suen et al. 1996) and appear to have evolved relatively recently

based on the presence of extraneous transposable elements within the gene fragment (Johnson et al. 2002). Leungsakul et al. (2005) were able to use enzyme engineering strategies to enhance degradation of NECs including 2,5-DNT by *Burkholderia* sp. Relative to the amount of information on TNT biodegradation by cultured isolates, there are only scattered reports using mixed or natural assemblages and these include work on sludge (Kroger et al. 2004), groundwater and aquifer sediment (Krumholz et al. 1997), lake surface water (Spanggord et al. 1983, Talmage et al. 1999, Zeng et al. 2004), lake sediment (Boopathy and Kulpa 1994), and soils (Fuller and Manning 1998, Miyares and Jenkins 2000, Siciliano et al. 1999). It seems difficult to imagine that natural assemblages of bacteria and protozoa grazers would be unable to mineralize NEC carbon and nitrogen given the importance of nitrogen as a growth-limiting nutrient in marine systems and the ubiquity of enzyme systems for metabolizing aromatic carbon compounds in nature:

"Although most organisms have detoxification abilities (i.e., mineralization, transformation and/or immobilization of pollutants), microorganisms, particularly bacteria, play a crucial role in biogeochemical cycles and in sustainable development of the biosphere. Next to glucosyl residues, the benzene ring is the most widely distributed unit of chemical structure in nature, and many of the aromatic compounds are major environmental pollutants. Bacteria have developed strategies for obtaining energy from virtually every compound under oxic or anoxic conditions (using alternative final electron acceptors such as nitrate, sulfate, and ferric ions). Clusters of genes coding for the catabolism of aromatic compounds are usually found in mobile genetic elements, such as transposons and plasmids, which facilitate their horizontal gene transfer and, therefore, the rapid adaptation of microorganisms to new pollutants. A successful strategy for in situ bioremediation has been the combination, in a single bacterial strain or in a syntrophic bacterial consortium, of different degrading abilities with genetic traits that provide selective advantages in a given environment." (Diaz 2004)

Reports of TNT half lives in natural environmental samples range from 1.1 days (Miyares and Jenkins 2000) to weeks (Boopathy et al. 1997) to months (Talmage et al. 1999). Popesku et al. (2004) reported high removal rates but only 4% mineralization of TNT carbon by an oil-degrading assemblage during a long term incubation (163 days). Degradation rates were temperature dependant in soil communities (Miyares and Jenkins 2000) and dependent on the availability of other forms of nitrogen and electron acceptors (Boopathy et al. 1997, Krumholz et al. 1997). Spain and coworkers reported use of 2,4-DNT and 2,6-DNT by soil assemblages (slurry reactors) as sole sources of carbon, nitrogen, and energy (Lendenmann et al. 1998, Nishino et al. 2000, Nishino et al. 1999, Zhang et al. 2000). There is little published information on TNT degradation in seawater or marine sediments aside from the work of Carr and Nipper (2003), which found rapid TNT and 2,4-DNT transformation rates using Puget Sound water and sediment and an increase in heterotrophic activity by the natural assemblage, which was attributed to TNT additions.

Exposure of soil assemblages to TNT can lead to a shift in the bacterial community structure (Fuller and Manning 1998, Siciliano et al. 1999) and lowering of metabolic rates (Zeng et al. 2004). There was a positive correlation between NEC concentrations and the presence of the genes responsible for denitrification (*nirK*, *nirS* or *nosZ*) in DNA extracted from the whole community, as well as in culturable strains isolated from the community, though denitrification rates decreased with increasing TNT concentrations (Siciliano et al. 2000). Using freshwater microbial assemblages, Zeng et al. (2004) found short term exposure to TNT (90 min) had cytotoxic effects (lower plate counts and glucose mineralization rates) that could be reversed by exposure to light. The researchers concluded that the photodegradation products (e.g., 2-amino-4,6-DNT, 4-amino-2,6-DNT, and 3,5-dinitroaniline) were being used as growth substrates by the bacterial assemblage.

In addition to NEC catabolism by heterotrophic bacteria, fungi may play a role in degradation as well. Lignin is degraded by fungi using several key enzyme systems: manganese peroxidase (MnP), lignin peroxidase (LiP), and laccase, which may degrade many different types of chemical bonds (Reddy 1995). These enzymes have also been shown to degrade PAHs, such as anthracene and phenanthrene (Pickard et al. 1999). Because aromatic compounds are synthesized by virtually all organisms, it is reasonable that anthropogenic compounds resembling natural aromatic compounds (amino acids, phenols, quinones; Fritsche and Hofrichter 2000) may be metabolized in microbial communities occurring where these compounds accumulate. Studies of fungal degradation of ¹⁴C ring labeled TNT showed release of ¹⁴CO₂, evidence of aromatic ring breakage (Fernando et al. 1990). Lignolytic microbial assemblages may have an enhanced ability to degrade other aromatic compounds, such as PAHs and TNT.

In an effort to displace ¹⁴C-TNT covalently bound to soil compost, Gunnison et al. (1998) added ammonium to increase the bioavailability to natural microbial assemblages. Only 0.6% of the total ¹⁴C-TNT became mineralized in 30 d, however, 23% and 15% were mineralized from the lignocellulose and fulvic fractions. Their interpretation was that the ammonium caused the bound TNT to become disassociated from the OM fractions, however, the nitrogen amendment could have also selected for heterotrophic bacteria or fungi that degrade all aromatic organic carbon without the need to disassociate the two components. Fungal-mediated TNT mineralization occurs only when fungi are lignolytic; i.e., when fungi produce LiP and MnP, the lignin degrading peroxidase enzymes (Hawari et al. 1999). Under these conditions, substantial carbon mineralization can occur (35%, Fernando et al. 1990; 30%, Kim and Song 2003). Partial TNT degradation products like 4-hydroxylamino-2,6-DNT are potent competitive inhibitors of lignin peroxidase H8 of *P. chrysosporium* (Bumpus and Tatarko 1994, Michels and Gottschalk 1994), further evidence of the relationship between microbial degradation of NEC and lignin.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Sampling

Subtidal stations were sampled from the Chesapeake and Delaware Bays (Fig. 1), San Francisco Bay (Fig. 2) and in Hawaii: the Ala Wai Canal (Fig. 3), Pearl Harbor (Fig. 4), and offshore of Oahu. Surface sediments were collected using Smith MacIntyer (R/V Point Sur), Petite Ponar, Shipek (R/V Cape Henlopen), or Wilco benthic grabs. Gravity corers (Wilco) were used to sample the top 20 cm of sediment at stations in the lower Chesapeake Bay, San Francisco Bay, Pearl Harbor and the Ala Wai Canal. Divers were used to collect surface sediment offshore of Oahu. Surface (1 m below air-sea interface) and bottom water (1 m above sediment) were collected using a Sea Bird CTD with rosette or Go-Flo bottle. Chesapeake and Delaware Bay were sampled using the R/V Cape Henlopen while the R/V Point Sur was used for the San Francisco Bay. Small watercrafts were used for the Hawaii samplings. All data presented in this report were collected during seven sampling events from 2002-2005 (Table 1). Gravity cores were sectioned every 2-3 cm for subsampling for mineralization or bacterial production in the depth profiles. Surface sediments and core slices were subsampled with a cut off 5 cm plastic syringe for the surveys of mineralization and a cut-off 1-cm plastic syringe for bacterial production.

Mineralization

Organic carbon mineralization assays were initiated within three hours of sediment sample collection using a modification of Boyd et al. (1996) and Pohlman et al. (2002). As radiotracers, we used three sentinel PAHs: UL-¹⁴C-naphthalene (spec. act. 18.6 mCi mmol⁻¹), 3-¹⁴C-fluoranthene (45 mCi mmol⁻¹), and 9-¹⁴C-phenanthrene (47 mCi mmol⁻¹; Sigma Chemical), as well as UL-¹⁴C-TNT (spec. act. 4 mCi mmol⁻¹), UL-¹⁴C-2,4-DNT (55 mCi mmol⁻¹), UL-¹⁴C-2,4-DAT (55 mCi mmol⁻¹; American Radiochemicals Inc.), UL-¹⁴C-catechol (1.8 mCi mmol⁻¹; Sigma Chemical), and UL-¹⁴C-toluene (60 mCi mmol⁻¹; Sigma Chemical). They were added in separate incubations to surface sediment samples (1 mL

wet volume) or 5 mL of seawater in 100×16 mm test tubes to a final concentration of about 0.2 µg g⁻¹ (depending on specific activity). For sediment samples, 0.5 mL of bottom water from the same station was filtered (0.22 µm nom. pore dia. Nuclepore polycarbonate) and added to make slurries. Samples were typically incubated for 24 h at *in situ* temperature in the dark and evolved ¹⁴CO₂ was captured on NaOH-soaked filter papers. H₂SO₄ was added to end incubations and to partition any remaining CO₂ into headspace of the tube and to the filter paper trap. The filter paper traps containing metabolized ¹⁴CO₂ were removed, radioassayed and subsequently used to calculate substrate mineralization. Ambient concentration of the specific compound was used to determine an isotope dilution factor.



Fig. 1 — Chesapeake Bay station locations



Fig. 2 — Sampling locations (•) for stations in the San Francisco Bay



Fig. 3 — Eleven stations (•) were sampled in the Ala Wai Canal during July 2003



Fig. 4 — Depth profile cores were taken in Bishop's Point and Southeast Loch in Pearl Harbor, HI in December 2002.

| Ecosystem | Cruise | Stations |
|----------------------|-------------------|----------|
| Chesapeake | September 2002 | 17 |
| Bay | March 2004 | 18 |
| | March 2005 | 12 |
| | December 2002 | 4 |
| Hawaii | July 2003 | 11 |
| | May 2005 | 2 |
| San Francisco Bay | May 2003 | 12 |

Table 1 — Seven Sampling Cruises Were Performed in Three Ecosystems from 2002 to 2005

Heterotrophic Bacterial Production

The leucine incorporation method (Kirchman et al. 1985, Kirchman 1993, Smith and Azam 1992) was used to measure bacterial production as adapted by Montgomery et al. (1999). A 0.50 μ L aliquot of wet surface sediment from each station was added to 2 mL centrifuge tubes (three experimental and one control) which were pre-charged with [³H-4,5]-L-leucine (154 mCi mmol⁻¹). The sediment was extracted from the benthic grab sample and added to the 2 mL tube using a 1 mL plastic syringe with the end cut off. One mL of 0.45 μ m nom. pore dia. (Acrodisk, Gelman) filtered bottom water (collected <1 m above bottom) was then added to each tube to form a sediment slurry. Samples were incubated for 1 h at *in situ* temperatures and subsequently processed by the method of Smith and Azam (1992). A constant isotope dilution factor of 1000 was used for all samples. This was estimated from actual measurements of

sediment dissolved free amino acids (Burdige and Martens 1990) and saturation experiment estimates (Tuominen 1995). One mL syringed samples of wet sediment were dried at 50 °C and used to covert production values to dry weight. Leucine incorporation rate was converted to bacterial carbon using factors determined by Simon and Azam (1989).

Microalgal Production

Particulate primary production (PPP) was determined by measuring the uptake of NaH₂¹⁴CO₃ (Parsons et al. 1984). Triplicate 10 mL sub-samples were inoculated with 80 μ Ci L⁻¹NaH₂¹⁴CO₃ and incubated (1 h) in quartz serum vials. Samples were filtered through Gelman type A/E glass fiber filters (1.0 μ m porosity) at \leq 125 mm Hg, placed in 20-mL scintillation vials, acidified with 500 μ L of 1 N HCL and vented (1 h). Amount of incorporated radioactivity was determined using a Beckman LC 6500. Phytoplankton production of dissolved organic matter (i.e., dissolved primary production (DPP)) was measured using PPP filtrate, which was transferred to glass scintillation vials, acidified as for PPP, purged with air for 20 minutes, and vented (1 h). Measurements were taken at T = 0, 24 and 48 h from separate 2.5 L polycarbonate containers, which were incubated at ambient light and temperature conditions in a 0.5 m deep tank with continuously flowing seawater. Light and dark controls from each detonation area and light and dark plume samples of TNT and RDX were included in the analysis.

Contaminant Concentration

Ambient PAH concentrations of 18 semi-volatile priority pollutants were determined. First, 10 to 15 g of sediment was dried with diatomaceous earth and then extracted in methanol using accelerated solvent extraction. The extracts were concentrated under a N^2 stream (Speedvap) and analyzed by GC/MS (Fisher et al. 1997). *p*-Terphenyl-d₁₄ and 2-fluorobiphenyl were used as surrogate standards, following the method described in Pohlman et al. (2002). TNT was measured using standard EPA method 8330.

DGGE of Bacterial Assemblage

Bacterial communities in both the water column and sediment samples were characterized by integrated cultivation and molecular DNA techniques. These approaches analyzed genetic diversity of complex populations. Methods used included DNA polymerase chain reaction (PCR), cloning, denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE), fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH), and numeration by colony counting and the most-probable-number method (Rooney-Varga et al. 1999, Daims et al. 2001, Nogales et al. 2001, Watts et al. 2001, Bouvier and del Giorgio 2003, Ivanov et al. 2003, Sekar et al. 2003, Zwirglmaier et al. 2004). Bacterial community DNA was amplified by PCR using specific primers. A 16S rRNA bacterial specific forward primer (27F) and a universal reverse (1492R) were used for cloning and bacterial specific 16S rRNA primers (b341GC, and b758) for DGGE (Delong 1992, Juck et al. 2000). Archaeal rRNA was similarly amplified with Archaeal specific primers (21F and 958R) (Delong 1992). The DGGE primer set amplifies a region ca. 500 bp that corresponds to positions 341-758 in Escherichia coli and resulting PCR products were analyzed with the DCode system (Bio-Rad). Resulting clones and well-separated bands from the DGGE were sequenced in our lab with an Amersham MegaBace 1000 DNA sequencer. Sequences are used for identification and subsequent phylogenetic determination by comparative sequence analysis. DGGE banding patterns among samples are compared to determine community structural differences, which can indicate relative abundances of the main bacterial populations within different samples.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Site Surveys

Seven surveys of coastal ecosystems were conducted to measure NEC mineralization rates using standard radiotracer techniques for interrogation of organic carbon metabolism by natural assemblages (Deming 1992). For these comparisons, the detection limit of our 24 h ¹⁴C-radiotracer incubations with natural sediment samples (1 g wet volume) was $1.0 \times 10^{-2} \mu g C kg^{-1} d^{-1}$ though a sample was only considered to have detectable NEC mineralization rates if the average of the triplicate live values (minus the kill) was greater than the standard deviation. If the standard deviation was larger than the average mineralization value of the triplicate samples, then that station was listed as a nondetect for TNT mineralization.

In general, TNT mineralization rates by the natural bacterial assemblage in surface sediments were higher than 2,4-DNT and 2,6-DAT mineralization rates measured at the same station. TNT mineralization was detected at 40 out of 56 stations (71%) and ranged from nondetect to 145 (\pm 16.0) µg C kg⁻¹ d⁻¹ though the median values of the each survey only ranged from 3.0 (\pm 0.56) to 17.6 (\pm 0.49) µg C kg⁻¹ d⁻¹ (Table 2). These median values may be a more useful for determining the capacity of ecosystem sediments to metabolize TNT. Despite the wide variation in ecosystem types (tropical vs temperate), the median TNT mineralization rates were within an order of magnitude among surveys. In addition, mineralization of 2,4-DNT and 2,6-DAT were also measured in the Chesapeake Bay surveys and the assays were typically conducted at the same stations as those for TNT mineralization. 2,4-DNT and 2,6-DAT mineralization was detected at fewer stations (38% and 58%, respectively) and had a lower median range for stations where mineralization was detected (1.35 \pm 0.44 and 9.88 \pm 0.48 µg C kg⁻¹ d⁻¹, respectively). In San Francisco Bay, only one survey was performed (May 2003) and TNT mineralization was detected at four out of 10 stations with 2,4-DNT mineralization detected at two out of 10 stations. The Hawaii sampling involved surveys of Bishop's Point and South Loch in Pearl Harbor and Ala Wai Canal in Waikiki with 45% of the samples having detectable TNT mineralization rates (median rate = $3.57 \pm 1.51 \ \mu g \ C \ kg^{-1} \ d^{-1}$). When averaged across all data for a sampling cruise, TNT mineralization rates in the Chesapeake Bay were higher than those measured for Hawaii and San Francisco Bay.

Table 2 — Nitrogenous energetic compound (NEC) mineralization rates (μ g C kg⁻¹ d⁻¹) were surveyed for surface sediments in three coastal waterways from 2002 to 2005. The range and median rate are reported for the collection of samples in each ecosystem where mineralization was detected (AVG: average; SD: one standard deviation).

| Ecosystem (# sampling events) | NEC | Total Stations | Detects | Mineral Rar AVG µg C (± S | lization nge C kg-1 d-1 SD) | Median Rate for Detects AVG (± SD) |
|----------------------------------|-----|-------------------|---------|------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|--|
| | | | | Low | High | |
| | TNT | 35 | 31 | 0.29 (± 0.13) | 145 (± 16.0) | 17.6 (± 0.49) |
| Chesapeake Bay (3) | DNT | 26 | 10 | 0.14 (± 0.05) | 219 (±119) | 1.35 (± 0.44) |
| | DAT | 17 | 10 | 2.15 (± 0.30) | 49.3 (± 22.6) | 9.88 (± 0.48) |
| San Francisco Pay (1) | TNT | 10 | 4 | 2.96 (± 1.33) | 7.42 (± 2.11) | 3.08 (± 0.56) |
| San Francisco Bay (1) | DNT | 12 | 2 | 16.0 (± 12.4) | 68.2 (± 12.8) | Not Applicable |
| Hawaii (2) | TNT | 11 | 5 | 2.38 (± 1.60) | 19.9 (± 11.8) | 3.47 (± 1.51) |

The bacterial assemblage degradation rate of NEC may be related to metabolism of other aromatic compounds like PAHs (¹⁴C-naphthalene, -phenanthrene, -fluoranthene), toluene, catechol, or even heterotrophic metabolism in general (bacterial production). Given the wide range of ecosystems and different times of the year of our samplings, we did not find good correlations when comparing TNT mineralization rates with these other parameters on a station by station basis. However, we did find that when averaging rates between stations where TNT mineralization was detected vs not detected, the average rates of bacterial production and mineralization of naphthalene, phenanthrene, fluoranthene, catechol and toluene were all higher at stations where TNT mineralization was detected (Table 3). Also, the range in average PAH and toluene mineralization rates for all the stations (0.80 to 8.04 μ g C kg⁻¹ d⁻¹) is very similar to that for TNT (3.08 to 17.6 μ g C kg⁻¹ d⁻¹). This suggests that TNT is mineralized in coastal sediments at rates that are typical for naturally occurring compounds, like phenanthrene and fluoranthene, and even similar to compounds like toluene and naphthalene that are known to be very transient in the estuarine sediments. Average 2,6-DAT mineralization was higher stations where TNT mineralization was detected (9.00 vs 3.84 µg C kg⁻¹ d⁻¹). Somewhat surprisingly, average 2,4-DNT mineralization rate for the TNT mineralization non-detect stations was slightly higher (13.8 vs 10.3 µg C kg⁻¹ d⁻¹) than for the detect stations suggesting that TNT and 2,4-DNT mineralization may be uncoupled processes amongst the natural assemblage.

Depth Profiles

There is evidence from the literature that both aerobic and anaerobic conditions may be required for complete mineralization of TNT though most of this information is derived from culture work and laboratory conditions. Nonetheless, we examined bacterial TNT mineralization rates with depth in core sections (typically 2-4 cm) down to 20 cm below the water-sediment boundary. Gravity cores were sectioned and then one mL wet volume subsamples of sediment were assayed. These cores were taken

from Pearl Harbor (Bishop's Point, South Loch), the Ala Wai Canal, the lower Chesapeake Bay (including the York and Elizabeth Rivers), and San Francisco Bay (Alameda, Treasure Island, Hunter's Point). Many of these cores were bioturbated to various degrees in the upper sections or throughout.

Table 3 — TNT mineralization was measured on sediment samples (68 total) from the Chesapeake Bay (35), San Francisco (10) and the Ala Wai canal, HI (11). Stations with detectable TNT mineralization rates were compared with those that were below the detection limit. Average (AVG) bacterial production and mineralization rates (μ g C kg⁻¹ d⁻¹) for other organic compounds were generally higher for samples that had measurable TNT mineralization with the notable exception of DNT.

| TNT | AVG Production or Mineralization Rate (µg C kg ⁻¹ d ⁻¹) | | | | | | | |
|------------------------|--|-------------|--------------|--------------|----------|------|------|---------|
| Mineralization Rate | Bacterial production | Naphthalene | Phenanthrene | Fluoranthene | Catechol | DNT | DAT | Toluene |
| Detects (42) | 76.3 | 4.79 | 8.04 | 1.06 | 160 | 10.3 | 9.00 | 4.45 |
| Nondetects (26) | 10.1 | 1.40 | 4.66 | 0.80 | 113 | 13.8 | 3.84 | 3.81 |

As with the previous survey of surface sediments, the core section data was grouped based on whether or not TNT mineralization was detected or not detected and then compared with other metabolic analyses. In December 2002, four cores were taken at Bishop's Point and South Loch (2 each) in Pearl Harbor, HI. TNT mineralization rates were detected in 6 out of 22 core sections of the 4 cores. Bacterial production averaged among the sections where TNT mineralization was detected was only slightly higher than among those sections where mineralization was not detected (6.50 vs 6.21 μ g C kg⁻¹ d⁻¹; Table 4). In the comparison of the surface sediments described above, the difference between the TNT mineralization rates of the PAHs, naphthalene, phenanthrene, and fluoranthene, were all higher for the core sections where TNT mineralization was detected as was seen in the surveys of the surface sediments from the three ecosystems (Table 4).

Table 4 — Average (AVG) bacterial production and mineralization rates (μ g C kg⁻¹ d⁻¹) were measured on sections from four sediment cores taken from Pearl Harbor, HI, in December 2002. Although production was similar when averaged among sections where TNT mineralization was not detected relative to sections where it was detected, PAH mineralization rates were higher among the latter sections.

| TNT | AVG Production or Mineralization Rate (µg C kg ⁻¹ d ⁻¹) | | | | | |
|------------------------|--|-------------|--------------|--------------|--|--|
| Mineralization Rate | Bacterial production | Naphthalene | Phenanthrene | Fluoranthene | | |
| Detects (6) | 6.50 | 0.20 | 5.41 | 1.83 | | |
| Non-detects (16) | 6.21 | 0.05 | 2.31 | 0.02 | | |

Bacterial production, as measured by the leucine incorporation method, often decreases dramatically with depth in gravity core sections. We then determined the ratio of TNT mineralization rate to bacterial production for same core sections and compared the ranges in these values between the surface section (0 to 2 cm) and below the surface section (2 to 20 cm). A high ratio indicates that TNT mineralization could potentially comprise a large component of total bacterial production or that a relatively larger fraction of the natural assemblage could metabolize TNT. For the San Francisco Bay cores (which were heavily bioturbated), there was little difference in the range between the ratios in the surface vs deeper in the sediments (Table 5). However there was a higher range of ratios between the surface vs the deep sections

in both the cores from Chesapeake Bay (surface: 0.04-14; deep: 2.87-40.4) and Hawaii cores (surface: 0.29-0.66; deep: 1.18-26.3). This suggests that deeper sediments may harbor a natural bacterial assemblage that may be better adapted for mineralizing TNT or similar types of organic carbon.

Table 5 — TNT mineralization rate (μ g C kg⁻¹ d⁻¹) as a function of bacterial production was determined as a relative measure of the ability of a bacterial assemblage to metabolize TNT. The range for most surface sediments in the three ecosystems was 0.01 to 1.6, but four surface stations and those in deeper sediments were much higher, suggesting that bacterial assemblages at these stations had a greater capacity to metabolize TNT.

| Ecosystem | Sample Type | TNT Bac (µg | Mineralization Rate/ cterial Production C kg ⁻¹ d ⁻¹ , range) |
|-------------------|----------------|-------------------|---|
| | | Low | High |
| Son Francisco Pau | surface | 0.05 | 1.05 |
| San Francisco Bay | cores | 0.05 | 0.98 |
| Chasenaelta Bey | surface | 0.04 | 14.0 |
| Спезареаке Вау | cores | 2.87 | 40.4 |
| Hanneii | surface | 0.29 | 0.66 |
| Hawali | cores | 1.18 | 26.3 |

Gravity cores were taken from three stations in the Chesapeake Bay system for comparison of bacterial production and mineralization of PAHs and TNT: LY, a relatively bioturbated station in the York River (Fig. 5); M, a relatively unmixed and armored station in the mid bay (Fig. 6); POD, a physically mixed station in the lower bay (Fig. 7) (Arzayus et al. 2001). TNT mineralization with depth is similar to, or higher than, PAH mineralization at the same depth in the Chesapeake Bay cores. The most difference between PAH and TNT mineralization was at the physically mixed station (Fig. 7). The more bioturbated station, LY, had the most sections with detectable PAH and TNT mineralization rates (Fig. 5).

Gravity cores were also taken from three stations in the San Francisco Bay system for comparison of bacterial production and mineralization of PAHs and TNT: Alameda (Fig. 8), Hunter's Point (Fig. 9), and Treasure Island (Fig. 10). Although all cores showed evidence of bioturbation (presence of burrowing worms), the Treasure Island core was characterized by large worms (>20 cm) and light, hydrated sediments. Here the gravity core penetrated 170 cm whereas the other cores were only 20 cm at Alameda and Hunter's Point. Unlike other systems (Fig. 5), bacterial production not as disproportionately elevated in the uppermost sections of the three San Francisco Bay core stations (Figs. 8A, 9A, 10A). At all three stations, TNT mineralization was often higher than that for naphthalene and fluoranthene but lower than phenanthrene mineralization when compared by each depth section (Figs. 8 B, 8C, 9B, 9C, 10B, 10C).



Fig. 5 — Chesapeake Bay production covarying with mineralization except in the tidal fresh and PAX River



Fig. 6 — Bacterial production (A), PAH mineralization (B) and TNT mineralization (C, μ g C kg⁻¹ d⁻¹) was measured with depth on a sediment core taken from the armored mid Chesapeake Bay station M3 in September 2002.



Fig. 7 — Bacterial production (A), PAH mineralization (B) and TNT mineralization (C, μ g C kg⁻¹ d⁻¹) was measured with depth on a sediment core taken from the physically mixed lower Chesapeake Bay station POD in September 2002.



Fig. 8 — Bacterial production (A), PAH mineralization (B) and TNT mineralization (C, μg C kg⁻¹ d⁻¹) was measured with depth on a sediment core taken off of Alameda in San Francisco Bay in May 2004.



Fig. 9 — Bacterial production (A), PAH mineralization (B) and TNT mineralization (C, μ g C kg⁻¹ d⁻¹) was measured with depth on a sediment core taken off of Hunter's Point in San Francisco Bay in May 2004.



Fig. 10— Bacterial production (A), PAH mineralization (B) and TNT mineralization (C; μg C kg⁻¹ d⁻¹) was measured with depth on a sediment core taken off of Treasure Island in San Francisco Bay in May 2004.

Incorporation and Growth Efficiency

During the estuarine sediment surveys, we found that TNT mineralization was frequently more rapid than 2,4-DNT or 2,6-DAT mineralization at the same station and time point, but had no correlation with toluene mineralization (Fig. 11). This could be due to a greater percentage of the bacterial community metabolizing TNT, more inefficient use of TNT by bacteria (lower % incorporation), or different cellular transport mechanism for TNT vs 2,4-DNT resulting in greater uptake and incorporation of TNT. Estuarine surface water (30‰ salinity) was collected from the mouth of the Delaware Bay in March 2005 and incubated with ¹⁴C-TNT, ¹⁴C-DNT and ¹⁴C-DAT to measure the incorporation and mineralization rates and growth efficiencies of free-living bacteria metabolizing these compounds. Bacteria among the natural assemblage incorporated TNT and 2,6-DAT into macromolecules (TCA precipitate) at a similar





Fig. 11 — Toluene mineralization (µg C kg⁻¹ d⁻¹) was uncoupled with TNT mineralization in Chesapeake Bay surface sediments in March 2005.

rate over the course of the 24 h incubation $(28.8 \pm 12.2 \text{ vs } 24.5 \pm 2.2 \text{ } \mu\text{g C L}^{-1} \text{ d}^{-1}$, respectively) but had a lower growth efficiency on TNT than 2,6-DAT and the mineralization rate was approximately sixfold less for 2,6-DAT than TNT $(3.1 \pm 0.9 \text{ vs } 0.5 \pm 0.2 \text{ } \mu\text{g C L}^{-1} \text{ d}^{-1})$ (Table 6). That is, heterotrophic bacteria processed 2,6-DAT and TNT at about the same rate, but more of the 2,6-DAT carbon was incorporated into macromolecules and more the TNT carbon was respired as CO₂.

| Table 6 — Average (AVG) rates of TNT incorporation, mineralization (µg C kg ⁻¹ d | d ⁻¹) and bacterial |
|---|---------------------------------|
| growth efficiency (%) using Delaware Bay surface water collected March | n 2005 |

| Energetic | Rate (µg C I (S | % Growth | | | |
|-----------|--------------------|----------------|------------|--|--|
| U | Incorporation | Mineralization | Efficiency | | |
| TNT | 28.8 (12.2) | 3.1 (0.9) | 90.3 | | |
| DAT | 24.5 (2.2) | 0.5 (0.2) | 98.0 | | |
| DNT | 3.2 (0.2) | 1.1 (0.7) | 74.4 | | |

At 3.2 (\pm 0.2) µg C L⁻¹ d⁻¹, the incorporation rate of 2,4-DNT was almost an order of magnitude lower than that for both TNT and 2,6-DAT (Table 6). However, at 1.1 (\pm 0.7) µg C L⁻¹ d⁻¹, 2,4-DNT mineralization rate was only about three-fold lower than that for TNT and about twice that for 2,6-DAT due to a much lower growth efficiency for bacterial metabolism of 2,4-DNT (74.4%). Bacteria incorporated a much lower percentage of the 2,4-DNT carbon than they did for 2,6-DAT and TNT. Though there were differences in incorporation efficiencies among these compounds, they are still surprisingly high for organic carbon sources metabolized by a natural assemblage. One hypothesis generated from these results is that these compounds are metabolized efficiently because the N-C subunits of NEC are easily transformed into macromolecules like proteins and nucleic acids. Assimilatory nitrogen metabolism by bacteria may be the preferred transformation process over organic carbon oxidation of the aromatic ring for energy. Although the mineralization rates (µg C L⁻¹ d⁻¹) were high relative to other organic carbon substrates, the percentage of assimilated TNT carbon that was mineralized was so low (ca. 10%) that it may actually be due to remineralization of bacterially incorporated ¹⁴C by protozoan grazers.

Light vs Dark

The relative importance of photodegradation and marine microbiota was examined using water sampled offshore of Oahu, HI, in July and December of 2003. Both whole surface seawater and filtered seawater (0.22 μ m nom. pore dia.) were incubated with 1 ppm of ¹⁴C-TNT and exposed to ambient light at *in situ* temperatures (27 °C in July, 25 °C in December) for 48 h. Values for filtered seawater incubated in the dark were used as a control for abiotic/non-photolytic TNT degradation. TNT mineralization in the whole seawater treatment in the dark was attributed to free living heterotrophic marine bacteria. Degradation of the tracer in filtered seawater exposed to ambient laboratory light would be the result of photolytic processes. Mineralization in the whole seawater exposed to light treatment could be both photolysis and heterotrophic bacteria, active marine microalgae, or some more complex interaction between abiotic and biotic processes.

In both the July and December experiments, TNT mineralization was about an order of magnitude higher due to photolysis (filtered, light) than to heterotrophic bacteria (unfiltered, dark), though the absolute value of both treatments was two orders of magnitude lower in the December than in July (Table 7). In the July Light, Unfiltered incubation (LU: $0.93 \pm 0.17 \mu g C L^{-1} d^{-1}$), the mineralization rate was somewhat lower than in the Light, Filtered (LF: $1.94 \pm 0.54 \mu g C L^{-1} d^{-1}$; Table 7). The LU treatment would be expected to at least be the sum of the LF and DU treatments but the differences between the LF and LU treatments may not be significant. While filtering the sample removed heterotrophic bacteria that would mineralize TNT, it would also remove particles that could absorb or block light thereby reducing photolysis. However, in the December sampling, the LU treatment ($0.103 \pm 0.014 \mu g C L^{-1} d^{-1}$), had TNT mineralization rate of nearly an order of magnitude higher than the LF treatment ($0.016 \pm 0.005 \mu g C L^{-1} d^{-1}$; Table 7). Here it may be that active microalgae played some role in TNT mineralization or that the heterotrophic bacterial assemblage was using some photolytic degradation product of the labeled TNT. In either case, the interaction between photolysis and the microbiota appears to be highly variable and complex with respect to degradation of TNT in seawater.

Table 7 — Average (AVG) TNT mineralization rate (μ g C kg⁻¹ d⁻¹) was higher with the natural microbial assemblage (unfiltered) in light than in the absence of either light or the assemblage during incubations of seawater taken offshore of Oahu, HI, in July 2003 (0.22 ppm TNT added) and December 2003.

| Sompling | TNT added | ¹⁴ C-TNT Mineralization Rates (μg C L ⁻¹ d ⁻¹ , AVG (SD)) | | | | |
|------------------|-----------|---|--------------------|----------------------|--|--|
| Samping | (ppm) | Dark, Unfiltered | Light, Filtered | Light, Unfiltered | | |
| July 2003 | 0.22 | 0.21 (0.097) | 1.94 (0.54) | 0.93 (0.17) | | |
| December 2003 | 0.09 | 0.0012 (0.016) | 0.016 (0.005) | 0.103 (0.014) | | |

Effect of Underwater Demolition Detonation

TNT and RDX are used for underwater demolition in construction and to remove hazards such as unexploded ordnance (UXO). In May 2005, we sampled seawater and sediment at two offshore stations where underwater demolition was being performed in separate detonations of 10 lb of TNT and 10 lb of RDX (Fig. 12). We sampled prior to the detonation and then immediately afterwards (within 5 min) in the debris field and then followed the plume sampling every 15 min until it could no longer be seen from the surface (ca. 1 h). We then used the surface water samples collected pre-detonation and immediately post-detonation in shoreside incubations in ambient laboratory light and maintained at *in situ* temperature (27 $^{\circ}$ C) to determine the degradation rates of the residual TNT and RDX that were expected to result from the incomplete combustion of the detonation charges.



Fig. 12 — Divers collecting sediment samples and setting demolition charge

Residual TNT and RDX were below the detection limit in seawater (LCMS: 0.6 ppm) even in the samples collected in the plume within 5 minutes after the detonation. Therefore, we were unable to determine rates of photolysis and biodegradation of the energetics in the shoreside incubations with the plume samples. However, PUV light profiles were taken at the stations prior to the respective detonations as well as throughout the plume immediately after detonation and every 15 min following the migration of the plume until it dissipated (Fig. 13). They appear to show the dissipation of the effects of the detonation on the water column light penetration as the plume migrates, mixes with seawater outside the plume, and as particles fall out of the water column.



Fig. 13 - Light profiles offshore of Oahu in May 2005

Even though there were no detectable NECs in the plume samples, we were still able to measure some effects of the detonations on the natural microbial assemblage. Bacterial production appeared to be unchanged following the TNT detonation when coming surface seawater taken pre verse post-detonation whereas there was an increase in bacterial production in the plume related to the RDX detonation (Table 8). Even though we were unable to detect NEC present in the plume seawater samples, it is possible that decomposition of the RDX resulting from the detonation could have resulted in a nutrient release (i.e., nitrate) which could stimulate heterotrophic bacterial metabolism. TNT uptake and mineralization was

measured using radiotracer addition to the subsamples of the incubations. Light appeared to increase uptake of TNT in roughly the same relative amount that light increased bacterial production (Table 9). There was no obvious change in bacterial assemblage composition over the 48 h incubations, as determined by DGGE profiles of extracted DNA (data not shown).

Table 8 — Pacific Ocean seawater was sampled pre and post an underwater demolition detonation with 10 lb of TNT or RDX. There was little difference in bacterial production (μ g C L⁻¹ d⁻¹) as a result of the detonation of TNT, but production roughly doubled in the post RDX detonation sample incubated in either ambient light or dark.

| Energetic | Illumination | Detonation | Bacterial Production | | |
|-----------|--------------|------------|-------------------------|------|--|
| | | | AVG | SD | |
| | Light | Pre | 3.36 | 0.03 | |
| TNT | Light | Post | 3.33 | 0.37 | |
| | Doult | Pre | 2.06 | 0.28 | |
| | Dark | Post | 1.73 | 0.63 | |
| | Light | Pre | 1.83 | 0.30 | |
| RDX | Light | Post | 4.77 | 1.42 | |
| | Dork | Pre | 1.27 | 0.79 | |
| | Dark | Post | 2.32 | 0.19 | |

Table 9 — Pacific Ocean seawater was sampled pre- and post- underwater demolition detonation with 10 lb of TNT. There was little difference in bacterial production, TNT mineralization, or uptake rate (μ g C L⁻¹ d⁻¹) as a result of the detonation (AVG: average; SD, one standard deviation). Incubation under ambient laboratory light increased both bacterial production and TNT uptake (μ g C L⁻¹ d⁻¹); mineralization was not measured under dark conditions. Added 0.176 ppm of TNT.

| Illumination | Detonation | Bacterial Production (µg C L ⁻¹ d ⁻¹) | | TNT Uptake (µg C L ⁻¹ d ⁻¹) | TNT Mineralization (µg C L ⁻¹ d ⁻¹) | | Primary Production | |
|--------------|------------|--|------|---|--|------|-----------------------|----|
| | | AVG | SD | Range | AVG | SD | AVG | SD |
| Light | Pre | 3.36 | 0.03 | 161-170 | 5.00 | 2.55 | | |
| | Post | 3.33 | 0.37 | 231-241 | 4.99 | 2.39 | | |
| Doult | Pre | 2.06 | 0.28 | 71-123 | | | | |
| Dark | Post | 1.73 | 0.63 | 88-100 | | | | |

At T = 0, primary production rates in the light and dark plume samples were not significantly different (p = 0.05) from their respective controls (Fig. 14). This was the case for dark samples for the duration of the experiments. T = 24 h, PPP in the light RDX plume sample and the light TNT plume sample were significantly higher than their respective controls. PPP in the light RDX plume sample continued to rise to the end of the experiment, but decreased slightly in the RDX control. Conversely,

PPP in the light TNT plume sample was significantly elevated compared to the control at T = 24 h, but returned to control levels by T = 48 h. It is important to note that PPP in light samples collected from the TNT plume site at T = 0 h was almost double the values from the RDX plume site Also, the absolute difference between the TNT control and plume sample at T = 24 h was greater than the RDX control and plume at the same time. These data indicate that although RDX had a more lasting effect on increasing primary productivity than TNT this may be related to a slower rate of uptake of the RDX daughter products resulting from the detonation by marine algae. It appears that the transformation products (resulting from detonation) of TNT were more labile to phytoplankton and hence were utilized rapidly and exhausted by the end of the experiment. Interestingly, none of the treatments (light vs dark, plume vs control) resulted in a significant difference in the rate of phytoplankton production of dissolved organic matter (also called DPP). DPP production was consistent across treatments and for samples collected from both sites for the duration of the experiment. The introduction of the post-detonation products of RDX and TNT appear only to affect the production of particulate biomass, and not the production of dissolved photosynthate.

Fig. 14 - Primary production surface water sampled offshore of Oahu in May 2005

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by SERDP (ER-1431) for "Biotic and Abiotic Attenuation of Nitrogenous Energetic Compounds (NEC) in Coastal Waters and Sediments" (to MTM, CLO, SEW, LJH, TJB, JH, QXL), the Office of Naval Research (to MTM & CLO) Contract # N0001499WX20525, and NAVFAC 0817 Pollution Prevention (to MTM). Tiffannee Donowick, Rebbeca Plummer, Keri Beeson, Sheila Reatherford and Kimberley Gates provided technical assistance. The authors thank the crews of the R/V Cape Henlopen, R/V Point Sur and EOD MUTHREE MIDPAC for assistance in sampling. Particular thanks go to Charles Nelson at University of Hawaii for invaluable logistical support. This report was formatted by Angela DeLozier.

REFERENCES

Achtnich, C, Fernandes, E, Bollag, J-M, Knackmuss, H-J, Lenke, H (1999). Covalent binding of reduced metabolites of ¹⁵N-TNT to soil organic matter during a bioremediation process analyzed by ¹⁵N NMR spectroscopy. Environ Sci Technol 33, 4448-4456.

Achtnich, C, Lenke, H, Klaus, U, Spiteller, M, Knackmuss, H-J (2000). Stability of immobilized TNT derivatives in soil as a function of nitro group reduction. Environ Sci Technol 34, 3698-3704.

Adamia, G, Ghoghoberidze, M, Graves, D, Khatisashvili, G, Kvesitadze, G, Lomidze, E, Ugrekhelidze, D, Zaalishvili, G (2006). Absorption, distribution, and transformation of TNT in higher plants. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 64(2), 136-145.

Alvarez, MA, Kitts, CL, Botsford, JL, Unkefer, PJ (1995). Pseudomonas aeruginosa strain MA01 aerobically metabolizes the aminodinitrotoluenes produced by 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene nitro group reduction. Can J Microbiol 41(11), 984-91.

Andrews, CC (1980). Photooxidative treatment of TNT contaminated wastewaters. Rep. No. WQEC/C-80-137. 1-84. Crane Naval Weapons Support Center, Crane IN.

Andrews, CC, Osmon, JL (1975). The effects of ultraviolet light on TNT in aqueous solutions. Rep. No. WQEC/C 75-197 (AD-B008175). Naval Weapons Support Center, Crane, IN.

Agrawal, A, Tratnyek, PG (1996). Reduction of nitroaromatic compounds by zero-valent iron metal. Environ Sci Technol 30:153-160.

Arzayus, KM, Dickhut, RM, Canuel, EA (2001). Fate of Atmospherically Deposited Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs) in Chesapeake Bay. Environ Sci Technol 35 (11), 2178 -2183.

Bandstra, JZ, Miehr, RM, Tratnyek, PG (2005). Reduction of 2,4,6-Trinitrotoluene by iron metal: kinetic controls on product distributions in batch experiments. Environ Sci Technol 39:230-238.

Barrows, SE, Cramer, CJ, Truhlar, DG, Elovitz, MS, Weber, EJ (1996). Factors controlling regioselectivity in the reduction of polynitroaromatics in aqueous solution. Environ Sci Technol 30:3028-3038.

Bartolo, BD, Pacheco, DP, Shultz, J (1979). Spectroscopic investigations of energetic materials and associated impurities. Boston College, Boston, MA. 144pp.

Best, EP, Kvesitadze, GK, Khatisahvili, G, Sadunishvili T (2005). Plant processes important for the transformation and degradation of explosives contaminants. Z Naturforsch [C] 60(3-4):340-8.

Best, EP, Sprecher, SL, Larson, SL, Fredrickson, HL, Bader, DF (1999a). Environmental behavior of explosives in groundwater from the Milan army ammunition plant in aquatic and wetland plant treatments. Removal, mass balances and fate in groundwater of TNT and RDX. Chemosphere 38:3383-3396.

Best, EP, Sprecher, SL, Larson, SL, Fredrickson, HL, Bader, DF (1999b). Environmental behavior of explosives in groundwater from the Milan army ammunition plant in aquatic and wetland plant treatments. Uptake and fate of TNT and RDX in plants. Chemosphere 39:2057-2072.

Bhadra, R, Spanggord, RJ, Wayment, DG, Hughes, JB, Shanks, JV (1999). Characterization of oxidation products of TNT metabolism in aquatic phytoremediation systems of *Myriophyllum aquaticum*. Env Sci Tech 33:3354-3361.

Bhadra, R, Wayment, DG, Hughes, JB, Shanks, JV (1999). Confirmation of conjugation processes during TNT metabolism by axenic plant roots. Environ Sci Technol 33:446–452.

Boopathy, R, Manning, J, Kulpa, CF (1997). Optimization of Environmental Factors for the Biological Treatment of Trinitrotoluene-Contaminated Soil. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 32:94-98.

Boopathy, R, Kulpa, CF (1992). Trinitrotoluene (TNT) as a sole nitrogen-source for a sulfate-reducing bacterium *Desulfovibrio* sp (b strain) isolated from an anaerobic digester. Curr Microbiol 25:235-241.

Boopathy, R, Kulpa, CF (1994). Biotransformation of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene (TNT) by a Methanococcus sp. (strain B) isolated from a lake sediment. Can J Microbiol 40(4):273-8.

Bouvier, T, del Giorgio, PA (2003). Factors influencing the detection of bacterial cells using fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH): A quantitative review of published reports [Review]. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 44(1): 3-15.

Boyd, TJ, Spargo, BJ, Montgomery, MT (1996). Improved method for measuring biodegradation rates of hydrocarbons in natural water samples, in B. J. Spargo (ed.), In Situ Bioremediation and Efficacy Monitoring, NRL/PU/6115–96-317, US Naval Research Laboratory, Washington, DC, 113-121.

Brannon, JM, Price, CB, Hayes, C, Yost, SL (2002). Aquifer soil cation substitution and adsorption of TNT, RDX, and HMX. Soil Sed Cont 11:327-338.

Bruns-Nagel D, Knicker, H, Drzyzga, O, Bütehorn, U, Steinbach, K, Gemsa, D, von Löw, E (2000). Characterization of 15N-TNT residues after an anaerobic/aerobic treatment of soil/molasses mixtures by solid-state ¹⁵N NMR spectroscopy. 2. Systematic investigation of whole soil and different humic fractions. Env. Sci Tech 34:1549-1556.

Burdige, DJ, Martens, CS (1990). Biogeochemical cycling in an organic-rich marine basin – 11. The sedimentary cycling of dissolved free amino acids. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 54: 3033-3052.

Burken, JG, Shanks, JV, Thompson, PL (2000). Phytoremediation and plant metabolism of explosives and nitroaromatic compounds, In J. Spain, J. B. Hughes, and H.-J. Knackmuss (ed.), Biodegradation of nitroaromatic compounds and explosives. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, Fla. 239-275.

Burton, DT, Turley, SD, Peters, GT (1994). The acute and chronic toxicity of hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine (RDX) to the fathead minnow (Pimephales promelas). Chemosphere 29(3):567-579.

Bumpus, JA, Tatarko, M, (1994). Biodegradation of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene by Phanerochaete chrysosporium: identification of initial degradation products and the discovery of a TNT metabolite that inhibits lignin peroxidases. Current Microbiology 28(3):185-90.

Carpenter, EJ, Capone, DG (1983). Nitrogen in the Marine Environment. Academic Press, New York, 920 pp.

Carr, RS, Nipper, M (2003). Assessment of environmental effects of ordnance compounds and their transformation products in coastal ecosystems, Final report prepared for Naval Facilities Engineering Service Center, Port Hueneme, CA, Technical report TR-2234-ENV. Naval Facilities Engineering Command, Washington, DC, USA.

Chiou, CT, Malcolm, RL, Brinton, TI, Kile, DE (1986). Water solubility enhancement of some organic pollutants and pesticides by dissolved humic and fulvic acids. Env Sci Tech 20:502-508.

Cerniglia, CE, Gibson, DT (1979). Algal oxidation of aromatic hydrocarbons: formation of 1-naphthol from naphthalene by Agmenellum quadruplicatum, strain PR-6. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 88:50-58.

Cerniglia, CE, van Baalen, C, Gibson DT (1980). Metabolism of naphthalene by the cyanobacterium Oscillatoria sp. Strain JCM. J Gen Microbiol 116:485–94.

Cerniglia CE, Gibson DT, van Baalen C (1980). Oxidation of naphthalene by cyanobacteria and microalgae. J Gen Microbiol 116:495–500.

Comfort, SD, Shea, PJ, Hundal, LS, Li, Z, Woodbury, BL, Martin, JL, Powers, WL (1995). TNT transport and fate in contaminated soil. Journal of Environmental Quality 24(6):1174-1182.

Daims, H, Ramsing, NB, Schleifer, K-H, Wagner, M (2001). Cultivation-independent, semiautomatic determination of absolute bacterial cell numbers in environmental samples by fluorescence in situ hybridization. Appl Env Microbiol 67(12):5810-5818.

Daun, G, Lenke, H, Reuss, M, Knackmuss, H-J (1998). Biological treatment of TNT-contaminated soil. 1. Anaerboic cometabolic reduction and interaction of TNT and metabolites with soil components. Env Sci Tech 32:1956-1963.

Darrach, MR, Chutjian, A, Plett, GA (1998). Trace explosives signatures from World War II unexploded undersea ordnance. Env Sci Tech 32:1354-1358.

Davenport, R, Johnson, LR, Schaffer, DJ, Balbach, H (1994). Phototoxicology 1. Light enhanced toxicity of TNT and some related compounds to *Daphnia magna* and *Lytechinus variagatus* embryos. Ecotox Env Saf 27:14-22.

Delong, EF (1992). Archaea in coastal marine environments. Proc Natl Acad Sci 89:5685-5689.

Deming, JW (1992). ¹⁴C-tracer method for measuring microbial activity in deep-sea sediments. In: Handbook on methods in aquatic microbial ecology. (Eds.) Kemp, PF, Sherr, BF, Sherr, EB,Cole, JJ Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, LA, pp. 405-414.

Devlin, JF, Klausen, J, Schwarzenbach, RP (1998). Kinetics of nitroaromatic reduction on granular iron in recirculating batch experiments. Environ Sci Technol 32:1941-1947.

Diaz, E (2004). Bacterial degradation of aromatic pollutants: a paradigm of metabolic versatility. Int Microbiol Sep 7(3):173-80.

DiGnazio, FJ, Krothe, NC, Baedke, SJ, Spalding, RF (1998). Delta N-15 of nitrate derived from explosive sources in a karst aquifer beneath the Ammunition Burning Ground, Crane Naval Surface Warfare Center, Indiana, USA. J Hydrology 206:164-175.

Drzyzga, OD, Bruns-Nagel, D, Gorontzy, T, Blotevogel, K-H, von Löw, E (1998). Mass balance studies with ¹⁴C-labeled 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene (TNT) mediated by an anaerobic *Desulfovibrio* species and an aerobic *Serratia* species. Curr Microbiol 37:380-386.

Drzyzga, O, Bruns-Nagel, D, Gorontzy, T, Blotevogel, KH, von Low, E (1999). Anaerobic incorporation of the radiolabeled explosive TNT and metabolites into the organic soil matrix of contaminated soil after different treatment procedures. Chemosphere 38:2081-95.

Duque, E, Haïdour, A, Godoy, F, Ramos, JL (1993). Construction of a *Pseudomonas* hybrid strain that mineralizes 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene. J Bacteriol 175:2278-2283.

Ellis, BE (1977). Degradation of phenolic compounds by freshwater algae. Plant Sci Lett 8:213-6.

Esteve-Nunez, A, Caballero, A, Ramos, JL (2001). Biological degradation of 2,4,6-Trinotrotoluene. Microbiol Molec Biol Rev 65:335-352.

Esteve-Nunez, A, Lucchesi, G, Philipp, B, Schink, B, Ramos, JL (2000). Respiration of 2,4,6-Trinitrotoluene by *Pseudomonas* sp. Strain JLR11. J Bacteriol 182(5):1352–1355.

Fant, F, de Sloovere, A, Matthijse, K, Marle, C, el Fantroussi, S, Werstraete, W (2001). The use of amino compounds for binding 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene in water. Environ Pollut 111:503-507.

Fernando, T, Bumpus, JA, Aust, SD (1990). Biodegradation of TNT (2,4,6-Trinitrotoluene) by Phanerochaeite chrysosporium. Appl Environ Microbiol 56(6):1666-1671.

Fisher, JA, Scarlett, MJ, Stott, AD (1997). Accelerated solvent extraction: An evaluation for screening of soils for selected U.S. EPA semivolatile organic priority pollutants. Environ Sci Technol 31:1120-1127.

Fiorella, PD, Spain, JC (1997). Transformation of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene by *Pseudomonas pseudoalcaligenes* JS53. Appl Env Microbiol 63:2007-2015.

French, CE, Hosser, SJ, Davies, GJ, Nicklin, S, Bruce, NC (1999). Biodegradation of explosives by transgenic plants expressing pentaerythritol tetranitrate reductase. Nat Biotechnol 17:491–494.

French, CE, Nicklin, S, Bruce, N (1995). Sequence and properties of pentaerythritol tetranitrate reductase from *Enterobacter cloacae* PB2. J Bacteriol 178:6623–6627.

French, CE, Nicklin, S, Bruce, NC (1998). Aerobic degradation of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene by *Enterobacter cloacae* PB2 and by pentaerythritol tetranitrate reductase. Appl Environ Microbiol 64:2864–2868.

Fritsche, W, Hofrichter, M (1999) Aerobic degradation by microorganisms. In: Rehm, H.-J., Reed, G. (Eds.) Biotechnology - Vol. 11b: Environmental Processes. Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, New York, pp. 145-167.

Fuller, ME, Manning, Jr., JF (1997). Aerobic Gram-positive and Gram-negative Bacteria Exhibit Differential Sensitivity to and Transformation of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene (TNT). Current Microbiology 25:77-83.

Fuller, ME, Manning Jr., JF (1998). Evidence for differential effects of 2,4,6 trinitrotoluene and other munitions compounds on specific subpopulations of soil microbial communities. Env Tox Chem 17:2185-2195.

Gorge, E, Brandt, S, and Werner, D (1994). "Uptake and metabolism of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene in higher plants," Environmental Science and Pollution Research 1, 229–233.

Gunnison, D, Fredrickson, H, Ringelberg, D, Felt, DR, Hayes, CH, Richmond, M, O'Neal, B, Porter, BE (1998). In Explosives Conjugation Products in Remediation Matrices: Interim Report 2; Technical Report SERDP-98-12; Pennington, JC, Thorn, KA, Gunnison, D, McFarland, VA, Thorne, PG, Inouye, LS, Fredrickson, H, Leggett, DC, Ringelberg, D, Jarvis, AS, Felt, DR, Lutz, CH, Hayes, CH, Clarke, JU, Richmond, M, O'Neal, B, Porter, BE, eds.; U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Waterways Experiment Station: Vicksburg, MS, pp 53-72.

Haderlein, SG, Schwarzenbach, RP (1993). Adsorption of substituted nitrobenzenes and nitrophenols to mineral surfaces. Env Sci Tech 27:316-326.

Haderlein, SG, Weissmahr, KW, Schwarzenbach, RP (1996). Specific adsorption of nitroaromatic explosives and pesticides to clay minerals. Env Sci Tech 30: 612-622.

Haderlein, SB, Hofstetter, TB, Schwarzenbach, RP (2000). Subsurface chemistry of nitroaromatic compounds. In Spain, JC, Hughes, JB, Knackmuss, HJ (eds) Biodegradation of Nitroaromatic Compounds and Explosives Lewis Publishers, Washington, DC. pp.311-355.

Haïdour, A, Ramos, JL (1996). Identification of products resulting from the biological reduction of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene, 2,4-dinitrotoluene and 2,6-dinitrotoluene by *Pseudomonas* sp. Environ Sci Technol 30:2365-2370.

Hannink, N, Rosser, SJ, French, CE, Basran, A, Murray, JAH, Nicklin, S, Bruce, NC (2001). Phytodetoxification of TNT by transgenic plants expressing a bacterial nitroreductase Nature Biotechnology. 19, 1168-1172.

Harvey, SD, Fellows, RJ, Cataldo, DA, Bean, RM (1990). Analysis of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene and its transformation products in soils and plant tissues by high-performance liquid chromatography. J Chromatogr 518:361–374.

Hawari, J, Halasz, A, Beaudet, S, Paquet, L, Ampleman, G, Thiboutot, S (1999). Biotransformation of 2,4,6-Trinitrotoluene with *Phanerochaete chrysosporium* in agitated cultures at pH 4.5. Appl Environ Microbiol 65(7):2877-2986.

Hedges, JL, Oades, JM (1997). Comparative organic geochemistries of soils and marine sediments. Org Geochem 27: 319-361.

Hernandez, R, Zappi, M, Kuo, C-H (2004). Chloride effect on TNT degradation by zerovalent iron or zinc during water treatment. Environ Sci Technol 38:5157-5163.

Ho, PC (1986). Photooxidation of 2,4-dinitrotoluene in aqueous solution in the presence of hydrogen peroxide. Env Sci Tech 20:260-267.

Hoffsommer, JC and Rosen, JM (1973). Hydrolysis of explosives in sea water. Bull. Environ. Contamin. Toxicol. 10(2):78-79.

Hughes, JB, Shanks, JV, Vanderford, M, Lauritzen, J, Bhadra, R (1997). Transformation of TNT by aquatic plants and plant tissue cultures. Environ Sci Technol 31:266–71.

Huang, S, Lindahl, PA, Wang, C, Bennett, GN, Rudolph, FB, Hughes, JB (2000). 2,4,6-Trinitrotoluene reduction by carbon monoxide dehydrogenase from *Clostridium thermoaceticum*. *Appl. Env Microbiol* 66:1474-1478.

Ivanov, V, Tay, STL, and Tay, JH (2003). Monitoring of microbial diversity by fluorescence in situ hybridization and fluorescence spectrometry. Wat Sci Tech 47(5): 133-138.

Johnson, GR, Jain, RK, Spain, JC (2002). Origins of the 2, 4-dinitrotoluene pathway. J Bact 184: 4219-4232.

Juck, D, Charles, T, Whyte, LG, Greer, CW (2000). Polyphasic microbial community analysis of petroleum hydrocarbon-contaminated soils from two northern Canadian communities. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 33:241-249.

Kalafut, T, Wales, ME, Rastogi, VK, Naumova, RP, Zaripova, SK, Wild, JR (1998). Biotransformation patterns of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene by aerobic bacteria. Curr Microbiol 36(1):45-54.

Karickhoff, SW (1984). Organic pollutant sorption in aquatic systems. J Hyd Eng 110: 707-735.

Kim, H-Y, Bennett, GN, Song, H-G (2002). Degradation of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene by *Klebsiella* sp. isolated from activated sludge. Biotechnology Letters 24:2023–2028.

Kim, HY, Song, HG (2003). Tranformation and mineralization of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene by the white rot fungus Irpex lacteus. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 61:150-156.

Kim, HY, Song, HG (2005). Purification and characterization of NAD(P)H-dependent nitroreductase I from Klebsiella sp. C1 and enzymatic transformation of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 68(6):766-73.

Kirchman, DL (1993). Leucine incorporation as a measure of biomass production by heterotrophic bacteria. In Kemp, PF, Sherr, BF, Sherr, EB, Cole, JJ *Handbook of Methods in Aquatic Microbial Ecology*. Lewis Publishers, Washington D.C. pp.509-512.

Kirchman, D, K'nees, E, Hodson, R (1985). Leucine incorporation and its potential as a measure of protein synthesis by bacteria in natural aquatic systems. Appl Environ Microbiol 49:599-607.

Kirso, U, Irha, N (1998). Role of algae in fate of carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the aquatic environment. Ecotoxicol Environ Safety 41:83–89.

Knicker, H, Bruns-Nagel, D, Drzyzga, O, von Löw, E, Steinbach, K (1999). Characterization of ¹⁵N-TNT residues after an anaerobic/aerobic treatment of soil/molasses mixtures by solid-state ¹⁵N NMR spectroscopy. 1. Determination and optimization of relevant NMR spectroscopy parameters. Environ Sci Technol 33:343-349.

Kroger, M, Schumacher, ME, Risse, H, Fels, G (2004). Biological reduction of TNT as part of a combined biological–chemical procedure for mineralization. Biodegrad 15:241–248.

Krumholz, LR, Li, J, Clarkson, WW, Wilber, GG, Suflita, JM (1997). Transformations of TNT and related aminotoluenes in groundwater aquifer slurries under different electron-accepting conditions. J Ind Microbio Biotech 18:161-169.

Kuritz, T, Wolk, CP (1995). Use of filamentous cyanobacteria for the biodegradation of organic pollutants. Appl Environ Microbiol 61:234–8.

Kuritz T, Bocanera, LV, Rivera, NS (1997). Dechlorination of lindane by the cyanobacterium *Anabaena* sp. Strain PCC7120 depends on the function of the nir operon. J Bacteriol 179:3368–70.

Kurumata, M, Takahashi, M, Sakamotoa, A, Ramos, JL, Nepovim, A, Vanek, T, Hirata, T, Morikawa, H (2005). Tolerance to, and uptake and degradation of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene (TNT) are enhanced by the expression of a bacterial nitroreductase gene in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Z Naturforsch [C]. Mar-Apr 60(3-4):272-278.

Larson, RA, Miller, PL, Crowley, TO (1996). Borohydride photoreduction of nitroaromatic compounds related to military ordnance constituents. Environ Sci Technol 30:1192-1197.

Leggett, DC (1985). Sorption of military explosive contaminants on bentonite drilling muds. CRREL Report 85-18. US Army Cold Regions Research and Engineering Laboratory, Hanover, NH.

Lendenmann, U, Spain, JC, Smets, BF (1998). Simultaneous biodegradation of 2,4-dinitrotoluene and 2,6- dinitrotoluene in an aerobic fluidized-bed biofilm reactor. Environmental Science & Technology 32(1):82-87.

Lessner, DJ, Johnson, GR, Parales, RE, Spain, JC, Gibson, DT (2002). Molecular characterization and substrate specificity of nitrobenzene dioxygenase from *Comamonas* sp. strain JS765. Appl Environ Microbiol 68:2634-2641.

Leungsakul, T, Keenan, BG, Yin, H, Smets, BF, Wood, TK (2005). Saturation mutagenesis of 2,4-DNT dioxygenase of *Burkholderia* sp. strain 2,4-DNT for enhanced dinitrotoluene degradation. Biotechnol Bioengin 92(4):416-426.

Li, HU, Teppen, BJ, Johnston, CT (2004). Thermodynamics of nitroaromatic compound adsorption from water by smectite clay. Environ Sci Technol 38:5433-5442.

Li, Z, Jones, HK, Bowman, RS, Helferich, R (1999). Enhanced reduction of chromate and PCE by palletized surfactant-modified zeolite/zerovalent iron. Environ Sci Technol 33:4326-4330.

Liou, M-J, Lu, M-C, Chen, J-N (2004). Oxidation of TNT by photo-Fenton process. Chemosphere 57:1107-1114.

Lotufo, GR, Farrar, JD, Inouye, LS, Bridges, TS, Ringelberg, DB (2001). Toxicity of sediment associated nitroaromatic and cyclonitramine compounds to benthic invertebrates. Environ Tox Chem 20:1762-1771.

Lynch, JC, Myers, KF, Brannon, JM, Delfino, JJ (2001). Effects of pH and temperature on the aqueous solubility and dissolution rate of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene (TNT), hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine (RDX), and octahydro-1,3,5,7-tetranitro-1,3,5,7-tetrazocine (HMX). J Chem Eng Data 46:1549-1555.

Mabey, WR, Tse, D, Baraze, A, and Mill, T (1983). Photolysis of nitroaromatics in aquatic systems. I. 2,4,6-Trinitrotoluene, Chemosphere 12(1):3-16.

Medina, VF, Larson, SL, Agwaramgbo, L, Perez, W, Escalon, L (2004). Treatment of trinitrotoluene by crude plant extracts. Chemosphere 55(5):725-32.

Meenakshisundaram, D, Mehta, M, Pehkonen, S, Maloney, SW. (1999). Electrochemical Reduction of Nitro-Aromatic Compounds, Technical Report (TR) 99/85/ADA371059 (U.S. Army Construction Engineering Research Laboratory [CERL]).

Michels, J, Gottschalk, G (1994). Inhibition of the lignin peroxidase of *Phanerochaete chrysosporium* by hydroxylamino-dinitrotoluene, an early intermediate in the degradation of TNT. Appl Environ Microbiol 60:187-194.

Miller, WL, King, DW, Lin, J, Kester, DR (1995). Photochemical redox cycling of iron in coastal seawater. Mar Chem 50:63-77.

Miyares, PH, and Jenkins, TF (2000). Estimating half lives of key components of the chemical vapor signature of land mines. Tech. Rep. ERDC/CRREL TR-00–17. USACE Engineer Research and Development Center, Vicksburg, MS.

Monteil-Rivera, F, Groom, C, Hawari, J (2003). Sorption and degradation of octahydro-1,3,5,7-tetrenitro-1,3,5,7-tetrazocine in soil. Environ Sci Technol 37:3878-3884.

Mondecar, M, Bender, J, Ross, J, George, W, Preslan, J (1994). Removal of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene from contaminated water with microbial materials. In Hinchee, RE, Anderson, DB, Metting, Jr, BF, Sayles, GD Applied Biotechnology for Site Remediation, Lewis Publishers, Washington, D.C.

Montgomery, MT, Boyd, TJ, Spargo, BJ, Coffin, RB, Steele, JK, Ward, DM, Smith, DC (1999). Bacterial assemblage adaptation in PAH-impacted ecosystems. In BC. Alleman and A Leeson (eds.) *In Situ and On-Site Bioremediation*. Battelle Press, Columbus, OH, 5:223-228.

Narro, ML, Cerniglia, CE, van Baalen, C, Gibson, DT (1992). Metabolism of phenanthrene by the marine cyanobacterium Agmenellum quadruplicatum PR-6. Appl Environ Microbiol 58:1351–9.

Nepovim, A, Hebner, A, Soudek, P, Gerth, A, Thomas, H, Smrcek, S, Vanek, T (2005). Degradation of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene by selected helophytes. Chemosphere 60(10):1454-61.

Nishino, SF, Paoli, GC, Spain, JC (2000). Aerobic degradation of dinitrotoluenes and pathway for bacterial degradation of 2,6-dinitrotoluene. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 66(5):2139-2147.

Nishino, SF, Spain, JC, Lenke, H, Knackmuss, HJ (1999). Mineralization of 2,4- and 2,6-dinitrotoluene in soil slurries. Environ Sci Technol 33(7):1060-1064.

Nogales, B, Moore, ERB, Llobet-Brossa, E, Rossello-Mora, R, Amann, R, Timmis, KN (2001). Combined use of 16S ribosomal DNA and 16S rRNA to study the bacterial community of polychlorinated biphenyl-polluted soil. Appl Env Microbiol 67(4):1874-1884.

Oh, SY, Cha, DK, Chiu, PC, Kim, BJ (2003). Enhancing oxidation of TNT and RDX in wastewater: pre-treatment with elemental iron. Water Sci Tech 47:93-99.

Ouyang, Y, Shinde, D, Ma, LQ (2005). Simulation of phytoremediation of a TNT-contaminated soil using the CTSPAC model. J Environ Qual 34(5):1490-1496.

Paerl, HW (1988). Nuisance phytoplankton blooms in coastal, estuarine, and inland waters. Limnol Ocean 33:823-847.

Paerl, HW, Fulton, RS, Moisander, PH, Dyble, J (2001). Harmful freshwater algal blooms, with an emphasis on cyanobacteria. Scien World 1:76-113.

Paerl, HW, Valdes, LM, Pinckney, JL, Piehler, Dyble, J, Moisander, PH (2003). Phytoplankton photopigments as indicators of estuarine and coastal eutrophication. BioScience 53:953-964.

Pak, JW, Knoke, KL, Noguera, DR, Fox, BG, Chambliss, GH (2000). Transformation of 2,4,6-Trinitrotoluene by purified xenobiotic reductase B from *Pseudomonas fluorescens* I-C. Appl Environ Microbiol 66(11):4742–4750.

Palazzo, AJ, Leggett, DC (1986). Effect and disposition of TNT in a terrestrial plant. J Environ Qual 15:49–52.

Parsons, TR, Maita, Y, Lalli, CM (1984). A Manual of Chemical and Biological Methods for Seawater Analysis Pergamon Press, UK.

Paquin, DG, Campbell, S, Li, QX (2004). Phytoremediation in subtropical Hawaii—a review of over 100 plant species. Remediat 127-139.

Pasti-Grigsby, MB, Lewis, TA, Crawford, DL, Crawford, RL (1996). Transformation of 2,4,6-Trinitrotoluene (TNT) by Actinomycetes isolated from TNT-contaminated and uncontaminated environments. Appl Environ Microbiol 62(3):1120–1123.

Pavlostathis, SG, Comstock, KG, Jacobson, ME, Saunders, FM (1998). Transformation of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene by the aquatic plant Myriophyllum spicatum. Environ Toxicol Chem 17:2266–2273. Pavlostathis, SG, and Jackson, GH (1999). Biotransformation of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene in *Anabaena* sp. cultures. Env Tox Chem 18:412-419.

Pavlostathis, SG, and Jackson, GH (2002). Biotransformation of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene in a continuous-flow *Anabaena* sp. system. Water Res 363: 1699-1706.

Pennington, JC, and Patrick, WH (1990). "Adsorption and Desorption of 2,4,6-Trinitrotoluene by Soils." J. Environ. Qual. 19:559-567.

Pennington, JC, Hayes, CA, Myers, FK, Ochman, M, Gumison, D, Felt, DR, and McCormick, EF (1995). "Fate of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene in a Simulated Compost System," Chemosphere 30, 429-438. Peres, CM, Agathos, SN (2000). Biodegradation of nitroaromatic pollutants: from pathways to remediation. Biotech Annu Rev 6:197-220.

Peterson, MM, Horst, GL, Shea, PJ, Comfort, SD (1998). Germination and seedling development of switchgrass and smooth bromegrass exposed to 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene. Environ Pollut 99:53–59.

Pickard, MA, Roman, R, Tinoco, R, Vazquez-Duhalt, R (1999). Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon metabolism by white rot fungi and oxidation by Coriolopsis gallica UAMH 8260 laccase. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 65(9):3805-3809.

Pohlman, JW, Coffin, RB, Mitchell, CS, Montgomery, MT, Spargo, BJ, Steele, JK, Boyd, TJ (2002). Transport, deposition and biodegradation of particle bound polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in a tidal basin of an industrial watershed. Env Monit Assess 75:155-167.

Popesku, JT, Singh, A, Zhao, JS, Hawari, J, Ward, OP (2004). Metabolite production during transformation of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene (TNT) by a mixed culture acclimated and maintained on crude oil-containing media. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 65(6):739-46.

Ramos, JL, Gonzalez-Perez, MM, Caballero, A, van Dillewijn, P (2005). Bioremediation of polynitrated aromatic compounds: plants and microbes put up a fight. Curr Opin Biotechnol 16(3):275-281.

Reddy, CA (1995). The potential for white-rot fungi in the treatment of pollutants. Curr Opin Biotechnol 6(3):320-328.

Riefler, RG, Smets, BF (2002). NAD(P)H:Flavin mononucleotide oxidoreductase inactivation during 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene reduction. Appl Environ Microbiol 68(4):1690–1696.

Rodgers, JD, Bunce, NJ (2001). Treatment methods for the remediation of nitroaromatic explosives. Water Res 35:2101-2111.

Rooney-Varga, JN, Anderson, RT, Fraga, JL, Ringelberg, D, Lovely, DR (1999). Microbial communities associated with anaerobic benzene degradation in a petroleum-contaminated aquifer. Appl Env Microbiol 65(7):3056-3063.

Schmelling, DC, Gray, KA, Kamat, PV (1996). Role of reduction in the photocatalytic degradation of TNT. Environ Sci Technol 30:2547-2555.

Schoenmuth, BW, Pestemer W (2004). Dendroremediation of trinitrotoluene (TNT). Part 1: Literature overview and research concept. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 11(4):273-8.

Schwarzenbach, RP, Gschwend, PM, Imboden, DM (1993). Environmental Organic Chemistry John Wiley and Sons Ltd, New York.

Sellner, KG (1987). Phytoplankton in Chesapeake Bay: Role in carbon, oxygen and nutrient dynamics. In Majumdar, SK, Hall, Jr., LW, Austin, HM (eds.). *Contaminant Problems and Management of Living Chesapeake Bay Resources*. Pennsylvania Academy Sciences Philadelphia, PA p 134-157.

Sekar, R, Pernthaler, A, Pernthaler, J, Warnecke, F, Posch, T, Amann, R (2003). An improved protocol for quantification of freshwater *Actinobactelia* by fluorescence in situ hybridization. Appl Env Microbiol 69(5):2928-2935.

Selim, HM, Xue, SK, Iskandar, IK (1995). Transport of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene and hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine in soils. Soil Sci 160:328-339.

Sellner, KG (1997). Physiology, ecology and toxic properties of marine cyanobacterial blooms. Limnol Ocean 42:1089-1104.

Sens, C, Sheidemann, P, Werner, D (1999). The distribution of ¹⁴C-TNT in different biochemical compartments of the monocotyledoneous *Triticum aestivum*. Environ Pollut 104:113–119.

Sharp, JH (1991). Review of carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus biogeochemistry. Rev Geophysics 29:648-657.

Sheremata, TW, Thiboutot, S, Ampleman, G, Paquet, L, Halasz, A, Hawari, J (1999). Fate of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene and its metabolites in natural and model soil systems. Environ Sci Tech 33:4002-4008.

Sheremata, TW, Halasz, A, Paquet, L, Thiboutot, S, Ampleman, G, Hawari, J (2001). The fate of the cyclic nitramine explosive RDX in natural soil. Environ Sci Technol 35(6):1037-1040.

Siciliano, SD, Gong, P, Sunahara, GI, Greer, CW (1999). Assessment of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene toxicity in field soils by pollution induced community tolerance (PICT), denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) and seed germination assay. Environ Toxicol Chem 19:2154-2160.

Siciliano, SD, Roy, R, Greer, CW (2000). Reduction in denitrification activity in field soils exposed to long term contamination by 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene (TNT). FEMS Microbiol Ecol 32:61–68.

Simon, M, Azam, F (1989). Protein content and protein synthesis rates of planktonic marine bacteria. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 51:201-213.

Smets, BF, Mueller, RJ (2001). Metabolism of 2,4-dinitrotoluene (2,4-DNT) by *Alcaligenes* sp. JS867 under oxygen limited conditions. Biodegradation 12:209-217.

Smith, DC, Azam, F (1992). A simple, economical method for measuring bacterial protein synthesis rates in seawater using ³H-leucine. Mar Microb Food Webs 6(2):107-114.

Smock, LA, Stoneburner, DL, Clark, JR (1976). The toxic effects of trinitrotoluene (TNT) and its primary degradation products on two species of algae and the fathead minnow. Water Res 10:537–43.

Son, HS, Lee, SJ, Cho, IH, Zoh, KD (2004). Kinetics and mechanism of TNT degradation in TiO_2 photocatalysis. Chemosphere 57(4):309-17.

Sørensen, SJ, Bailey, M, Hansen, LH, Kroer, N, Wuertz, S (2005). Studying plasmid horizontal transfer in situ: A critical review. Nature Reviews 3:700-703.

Spain, JC, Hughes, JB, Knackmuss, HJ (eds) (2000). Biodegradation of Nitroaromatic Compounds and Explosives Lewis Publishers, New York, 434 pp.

Spanggord, RJ, Mabey, W-R, Mill, T, Chou, TW, Smith, JH, Less, S, Robert, D (1983). Environmental fate studies on certain m munitions wastewater constituents. LSU-7934, AD-A138550; SRI International: Menlo Park, CA. Steffan, RJ, Drew (1995). Field_demonstrations of an anaerobic slurry bioreactor system for the remediation of soils contaminated with nitroaromatic compounds. In J.R. Simplot (eds) Ex Situ Bioremediation Technology Treatment for TNT-Contaminated Soils, Environmental Protection Agency, Publication number EPA/540/R-95/529, September 1995 Washington, D.C.

Suen, W, Haigler, BE, Spain, JC (1996). 2,4-Dinitrotoluene dioxygenase from *Burknolderia* sp. starin DNT: Similarity to naphthalene dioxygenase. J Bacteriology 178: 9193-9196.

Sung, K, Munster, CL, Corapcioglu, MY, Drew, MC, Park, S, Rhykerd, T (2004). Hytoremediation and modeling of contaminated soil using eastern gamagrass and annual ryegrass. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 159:175–195.

Talmage, SS, Opresko, DM, Maxwell, CJ, Welsh, CJE, Cretella, FM, Reno, PH, Daniel, FB (1999). Nitroaromatic munition compounds: Environmental effects and screening values. Rev Environ Contam Toxicol 161:1–156.

Tandros, MG, Crawford, AM, Mateo-Sullivan, A, Zang, C, Hughes, JB (2000). Toxic effects of hydroxylamino intermediates from microbial transformation of trinitrotoluene and dinitrotoluene on algae Selenastrum capricornutum. Bull Env Cont Tox 64:579-685.

Thies, F, Backhaus, T, Bossmann, B, Grimme, LH (1996). Xenobiotic biotransformation in unicellular green algae involvement of cytochrome P450 in the activation and selectivity of the pyridazinone proherbicide metflurazon. Plant Physiol 112:361–370.

Thompson, PL, Ramer, LA, Schnoor, JL (1998). Uptake and transformation of TNT by hybrid poplar trees. Environ Sci Technol 32:975–980.

Thorn, KA, Kennedy, KR (2002). ¹⁵N NMR Investigation of the covlaent binding and reduced TNT amines to soil humic acid, model compounds, and lignocellulose. Environ Sci Technol 36(17):3787-3796.

Thorn, KA, Pennington, JC, Hayes, CA (2002). ¹⁵N NMR Investigation of the reduction and binding of TNT in aerobic bench scale reactor simulating windrow composting. Environ Sci Technol 36(17):3797-3805.

Tope, AM, Jamil, K, Baggi, TR (1999). Transformation of 2,4,6-Trinitrotoluene (TNT) by immobilized and resting cells of *Arthrobacter* sp. Journal of Hazardous Substance Research 2(3):1-9.

Tuominen, L (1995). Comparison of leucine uptake methods and a thymidine incorporation method for measuring bacterial activity in sediment. J Microbiol Methods 24: 125-134.

Van Aken, B, Yoon, JM, Schnoor, JL (2004). Biodegradation of nitro-substituted explosives 2,4,6-Trinitrotoluene, Hexahydro-1,3,5-Trinitro-1,3,5-Triazine, and Octahydro-1,3,5,7-Tetranitro-1,3,5-Tetrazocine by a phytosymbiotic *Methylobacterium* sp.associated with poplar tissues (*Populus deltoides* _ nigra DN34) Appl Environ Microbiol 70(1):508–517.

Van Beelen, P, Burris, DR (1995). Reduction of the explosive 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene by enzymes from aquatic sediments. Environl Tox Chem 14(12):2115-2123.

Vanderford, M, Shanks, JV, Hughes, JB (1997). Phytotransformation of trinitrotoluene (TNT) and distribution of metabolic products in Myriophyllum aquaticum. Biotechnol Lett 19:277–80.

Vanek, T, Nepovim, A, Podlipna, R, Zeman, S, Vagner, M (2002). Phytoremediation of selected explosives. Water Air Soil Poll Focus 3:259–267.

Vila, M, Pascal-Lorber, S, Rathahao, E, Debrauwer, L, Canlet, C, Laurent, F (2005). Metabolism of ¹⁴C-2,4,6-Trinitrotoluene in tobacco cell suspension cultures. Environ Sci Technol 39:663-672.

Vitousek, PM, Howarth, RW (1991). Nitrogen limitation on land and in the sea: how can it occur? Biogeochemistry 13(2):87-115.

Vorbeck, C, Lenke, H, Fischer, P, Spain, JC, Knackmuss, HJ (1998). Initial Reductive Reactions in Aerobic Microbial Metabolism of 2,4,6-Trinitrotoluene. Appl Environ Microbiol 64(1):246–252.

Watrous, MM, Clark, S, Kutty, R, Huang, S, Rudolph, FB, Hughes, JB, Bennett, GN (2003). 2,4,6-Trinitrotoluene reduction by an Fe-only hydrogenase in Clostridium acetobutylicum. Appl Environ Microbiol 69(3):1542–1547.

Watts, JE, Wu, Q, Schreier, SB, May, HD Sowers, KR (2001). Comparative analysis of polychlorinated biphenyl-dechlorinating communities in enrichment cultures using three different molecular screening techniques. Env Microbiol 3(11):710-719.

Wayment, DG, Bhadra, R, Lauritzen, J, Hughes, J, Shanks, JV (1999). A transient study of formation of conjugates during TNT metabolism by plant tissues. Int J Phytoremed 1:227–239.

Weissmahr, KW, Hildenbrand, M, Schwarzenbach, RP, Haderlein, SB (1999). Laboratory and field scale evaluation of geochemical controls of groundwater transport of nitroaromatic ammunition residues. Environ Sci Tech 33:2593-2600.

Weissmahr, KW, Haderlein, SB, Schwarzenbach, RP, Hany, R, Nuesch, R (1997). *In Situ* spectroscopic investigations of adsorption mechanisms of nitroaromatic compounds at clay minerals. Environ Sci Technol 31:240-247.

Williams, RE, Rathbone, DA, Scrutton, NS, Bruce, NC (2004). Biotransformation of explosives by the old yellow enzyme family of flavoproteins. Appl Environ Microbiol 70(6):3566–3574.

Won, WD, DiSalvo, LH, Ng, J (1976. Toxicity and mutagenicity of 2,4,-6-trinitrotoluene and its microbial metabolites. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 31(4): 576–580.

Zaripov, SA, Naumov, AV, Suvorova, ES, Garusov, AV, Naumova, RP (2004). Initial stages of 2,4,6-Trinitrotoluene transformation by microorganisms. Microbiol 73(4):398–403.

Zeng, K, Hwang, HM, Zhang, Y, Cook S (2004). Assessing cytotoxicity of photosensitized transformation products of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene (TNT) and atrazine with freshwater microbial assemblages. Environ Toxicol 19(5):490-496.

Zhang, CL, Hughes, JB, Nishino, SF, Spain, JC (2000). Slurry-phase biological treatment of 2,4dinitrotoluene and 2,6-dinitrotoluene: Role of bioaugmentation and effects of high dinitrotoluene concentrations. Environ Sci Technol 34(13):2810-2816.

Zoh, KD, Stenstrom, MK (2002). Fenton oxidation of hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine (RDX) and octahydro-1,3,5,7-tetranitro-1,3,5,7-tetrazocine (HMX). Water Res 36:1331-1341.

Zwirglmaier, K, Ludwig, W, Schleifer, K-H (2004). Recognition of individual genes in a single bacterial cell by fluorescence in situ hybridization - RING-FISH. Molec Microbiol 51(1):89-96.